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(1)

ASSESSING SEPTEMBER 11TH HEALTH
EFFECTS: WHAT SHOULD BE DONE?

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 28, 2003

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON NATIONAL SECURITY, EMERGING

THREATS AND INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM,

New York, NY.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in the

Goldwurm Auditorium of the Mount Sinai Medical Center, 1st
Floor, 1425 Madison Avenue, New York, NY, Hon. Christopher
Shays (chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Shays, Turner, and Maloney.
Staff present: Lawrence Halloran, staff director and counsel;

Kristine McElroy, professional staff member; Robert Briggs, clerk;
and David Rapallo, minority counsel.

Mr. SHAYS. I’d like to welcome our witnesses and our guests to
this congressional hearing. And to say that this is an important
day and we are looking forward to the testimony from our wit-
nesses.

A quorum being present, the Subcommittee on National Security,
Emerging Threats and International Relations Hearing entitled,
‘‘Assessing September 11th Health Effects: What Should be Done?’’
is called to order.

Congresswoman Carolyn Maloney invited the National Security
Subcommittee to New York City today because she understands
the threat posed to the health and welfare of all Americans by ter-
rorism and its lingering aftermath. She has been a thoughtful,
hardworking partner in our bipartisan oversight of terrorism
issues, and we are grateful for the opportunity to be here.

In place of the fallen towers of the World Trade Center, these
two hard realities cast long shadows over our discussion today.
Many first responders are the second wave of victims in a terrorist
incident. And public health and disability compensation systems
are not fully prepared to acknowledge the unique wounds inflicted
by this all too modern war. Firefighters, police, emergency medical
personnel, transit workers, construction crews and other first re-
sponders came to Ground Zero knowing there would be risks, but
confident they’re equipment, training and community would sus-
tain them. But, as we will hear today, better equipment and train-
ing standards are needed to match the first responder mission to
the new threats posed by catastrophic terrorism. And the dissident
patchwork of Federal, State and local health support is, in many
cases, not providing the care and comfort they rightfully expect.
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After the 1991 war in the Persian Gulf, veterans suffered a vari-
ety of unfamiliar syndromes, faced daunting official resistance to
evidence linking multiple low level toxic exposures to subsequent
chronic ill health. In part, due to the work by this subcommittee,
long term health registries were improved, an aggressive research
agenda pursued and sick veterans now have the benefit in law of
a rebuttable presumption that wartime exposures cause certain ill-
nesses.

When the front line is not Baghdad but Broadway, occupational
medicine and public health practitioners may have much to learn
from that distant Middle East battlefield. Proper diagnoses, effec-
tive treatment and fair compensation for the delayed causalities of
a toxic attack require vigilance, patience and a willingness to admit
what we do not know and might never know about toxic synergies
and syndromes.

Health surveillance has to be focused and sustained. New treat-
ment approaches have to be tried now in time to restore damaged
lives. In this effort to heal the wounds of September 11, 2001 and
strengthened public health capacity against future attacks, the
Federal Government has a central role to play. The Center for Dis-
ease Control and Prevention [CDC], and its National Institute of
Occupational Health are charged to develop and implement health
protocols against new workplace dangers like Anthrax and novel
particulates from the fiery destruction of a building.

On our second panel of witnesses today we will hear about the
work and other Federal public health agencies in treating the
walking wounded of September 11th. But before we will hear from
first responders and local officials on the near and long term health
effects of the World Trade Center attack.

We appreciate our Federal witnesses foregoing the usual protocol
of going first so that they could listen and respond to all the testi-
mony today.

All our witnesses bring impressive expertise and unquestionable
dedication to our discussion. We are grateful they could join us. We
look forward to a constructive dialog on how to mend the wounds
of this and other terrorist attacks.

At this time the Chair would recognize the very gentle, as they
say in terms, and very knowledgeable Mrs. Maloney.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Christopher Shays follows:]
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Mrs. MALONEY. First of all, Chairman Shays, I want to thank
you very, very much for coming to my district to hold this hearing.
But I also would like to focus and comment on your long term com-
mitment to issues of public health, including your outstanding and
aggressive oversight of the response of the Federal Government to
the Gulf war syndrome. In fact, many people say that the Septem-
ber 11 health concerns are similar to the Gulf war syndrome and
that Washington is not really reacting to what is a major health
crises in an appropriate way.

The primary question before us today is everything being done
that could be done to help those workers and victims at September
11. And that is why I asked Chairman Shays to have this hearing.

And I regretfully expect that we will hear today that the answer
is no. I have read in some testimony that over 1,800 of the fire-
fighters have had to take early retirement because of health con-
cerns. I have read the testimony of transit workers who called the
air at Ground Zero ‘‘toxic soup’’ filled with asbestos and pulverized
glass and concrete, and that fully half of their workers are sick.

And fully one-third, I am told by Dr. Levin and others at Mt
Sinai are still experiencing long term related health problems. And,
regrettably, Dr. Levin has told me that 40 percent of the people
they have screened so far do not have health coverage.

There is substantial evidence of high levels of upper airway and
lung problems, respiratory, digestive conditions, psychological trau-
ma problems. And there are certainly more injured that are wait-
ing in line to be documented. But there still seems to be no coordi-
nated response from Washington.

Anyone looking at thousands sickened by one event would think
that it would be treated as a health emergency of the highest
order. But it does not seem that there has been any sense of ur-
gency from the Federal Government.

I hope that this hearing will help sort all of this out. And I know
that many of the panelists and my colleagues, I thank them for
being here, have a lot of questions.

First, what is being done to actually assist the injured medically?
That is what I would like to hear from the panel.

Is there a coordinated assistance for those that need help; volun-
teers, construction workers, residents, first responders who have
injured and have not been able to work since their time at Ground
Zero, many of whom have list their health insurance because they
are no longer able to work?

Do those who were insured know that many can apply? Many of
the injured can apply. And I want to make sure that they know
that they can apply to the Victims Fund. And do they know that
they must apply before the December 31st deadline of this year for
assistance?

What is happening with processing of worker’s compensation
claims? I hear reports that is mired in difficulty.

And most importantly, are those injured receiving the proper
care?

Why has there been such reluctance on the part of the Federal
Government to provide sufficient funds for monitoring and why
have the funds been so slow in getting dispersed?
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It took over a year to get the leadership in Congress to support
the $90 million for the medical screening of World Trade Center
workers. Federal resources for the monitoring program, even 8
months after they were appropriated, have still not been dispersed
and apparently will not be dispersed until May 2004 at the earli-
est. Why is this happening? This is wrong. We should figure out
to move the system forward.

And I hope that NIOSH will explain why they are proposing to
change the system, and at the very least their changes should not
in anyway disturb the monitoring the program that is already in
place and not have gaps in that monitoring programs.

And are there sufficient funds in place to properly provide the
long term monitoring that is needed? We have never had a situa-
tion in history where pulverized toxic air has been exposed to peo-
ple. And we need a long term commitment to monitor these health
risks so that we can possibly plan in the future for better preven-
tive equipment to protect people at disaster areas.

And why are the representatives of the workers so directly im-
pacted by health concerns so unhappy with the work of the city on
the health registry?

And why are there still privacy concerns about the health reg-
istry survey?

Why did the registry not work out a protocol for providing infor-
mation and referral for those injured who seek help? I had my staff
call the registry and they didn’t refer them to any other screening
or to any health treatment. And why, after 2 years of planning,
cannot the city of New York, the great city of New York do a better
job with this health registry?

In light of the revelations about the EPA’s public announcements
on the safety of the air after the disaster, the immense difficulty
the New York City House members in a bipartisan way along with
our Senators had in convincing Washington to support funding, we
have to ask why is not Washington focusing on these issues. And
I would like permission to place in the record an article that was
in the Daily News today that talks about memos from top scientists
that were released to the city about the health crises in the air and
the lack of information and support that got out to the workers.
They were not informed. I request permission to put this article in
the record.

Mr. SHAYS. Without objection, so ordered.
[The information referred to follows:]
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Mrs. MALONEY. I am in the process of developing legislation
which I hope will be a bipartisan effort which will focus on many
of the issues that we are talking about today.

First, the legislation would make sure that everyone who was in-
jured from their time at Ground Zero, the volunteers, the bucket
brigade, the firefighters, fire officers, iron workers, construction
workers; all of those that do not have health coverage, that they
get health coverage that covers their health concerns because they
risked their lives to save other people.

And I ask a final question: How in the world are other first re-
sponders going to respond to disasters if they see that the first re-
sponders who rushed to September 11 are not, at the very mini-
mum, given health care and health screening and health monitor-
ing for their health concerns because of their selfless act to rush
and save the lives and work to reconstruct our city?

I would like to place in the record the draft of the legislation. It
also calls for the monitoring to continue for 20 years and for re-
search to look into what this means, this new type of toxic air that
Americans or no one on Earth has ever experienced before on their
long term health needs. And it tries to facilitate a better coordina-
tion and oversight.

Coming here today I saw a bumper sticker that said ‘‘Remember
9/11.’’ You see them everywhere. ‘‘Remember 9/11.’’ But I hope that
today with this focus that Washington will also remember, the city
will remember and we will get the proper care to the workers. And
I hope that this is the beginning of a new and urgently needed
focus on the health impact of September 11.

And I strongly commend the work of the chairman on the Gulf
war syndrome, and for his attention and for being here today.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Carolyn B. Maloney follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. I thank the gentle lady.
And at this time the Chair would recognize the vice chairman of

the subcommittee, Mr. Turner, and thank him for being here given
he has constituent issues in his home State of Ohio. And I thank
you for being here. Thank you.

Mr. TURNER. I want to thank our chairman, Chris Shays and
Mrs. Maloney, for having this hearing and for focusing on these im-
portant issues. Mrs. Maloney, thank you for having us in your dis-
trict.

Our chairman, Chris Shays, has been a leader in the issues of
looking at terrorism and our preparedness both on the local and
Federal level and our responsiveness to the issue of how do we pre-
vent terrorist attacks, how do we prepare for them and how to re-
spond. Even prior to September 11th our chairman had made cer-
tain that this committee looked at ways that information could be
disseminated to communities and throughout the Federal Govern-
ment in assisting us in our preparedness for terrorist attacks.

I am the only Representative who is here who is not from the
larger New York metropolitan area, but I can assure you that this
is a national issue. It is a national issue not only because Septem-
ber 11th was a national tragedy, but because the preparedness, the
information that we learn from this experience is important to all
of us in our country as we look to lessons learned and how we can
prepare in the future.

Also for my community, Dayton, OH, I served as mayor for Day-
ton during September 11, 2001, and even our community sent
EMS, fire and EMS responders as part of the recovery operation
in response to New York’s broader request that States throughout
the region send responders here. So I met our responders as they
were returning from New York and spoke with them about what
they saw and how their efforts here impacted their lives. And I’m
very interested then in how the overall environmental impacts
might effect the efforts of really what was the response from many
States in helping New York.

We do have a lot of real important work here to do today. One
is the evaluation of current spending. There have been millions of
dollars that have been spent and millions of dollars that have been
allocated. Have they been allocated to the appropriate things? And
what are the needs that we need to address?

In looking at the needs, we are obviously going to be looking at
the issue of the full impacts, not just those that are immediately
obviously, but as we further study this and look to the impacts in
this community.

And then also the third would be on the issue of just lessons
learned, and not only for processes but substantive, technical, sci-
entific information that we have learned.

I am very excited about participating in this and learning from
all of the experts that you have assembled the information that we
need as we look to proceed in the future. Thank you.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank the gentleman.
At this time the Chair would recognize Mr. Townes, not a mem-

ber of the subcommittee, but a member of the full committee.
Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
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Let me begin by thanking you and all my colleagues for holding
this very important hearing. I appreciate that you are holding the
hearing in the city that the most damage occurred, and that is a
fact. The tragedy of September 11 was felt more by our city than
any other place. We encountered the greatest physical destruction
and we lost the most lives. And thousands of families still mourn
the magnitude of this devastation, which was easily seen by the en-
tire world.

I have been, and remain concerned, about the lack of attention
paid to those who live right outside of Manhattan. As someone who
represents parts of Brooklyn, I am most concerned about my Brook-
lyn constituents. The research shows that my concerns should not
be ignored.

According to the Environmental and Occupational Health
Sciences Institute of the University of Medicine and Dentistry in
New Jersey, the intense heat of Ground Zero blew debris, gases
and particles upwards creating a loft effect which may have caused
these pollutants to drop on people living in Brooklyn.

New York Newsday reported this finding in an article on Sep-
tember 11th of this year, however this evidence is not new. On Au-
gust 23, 2002 Newsday reported that high resolution photographs
shot on September 11 by satellites show clear images of toxic de-
bris getting blown in a southeasterly direction from Ground Zero
across the Brooklyn Bridge into several neighborhoods.

I would like to submit this article, Mr. Chairman, for the record,
Newsday of September 11th.

Mr. SHAYS. Without objection, so ordered.
[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. TOWNS. This was also confirmed by an October 2002 Amer-
ican Prospect article that said ‘‘It is now clear, thanks to NASA
photographs, that the black toxin of World Trade Center debris
blew for more than 30 hours directly from Ground Zero to the East
River, which separates Manhattan from Brooklyn and Queens.’’

Let me point out three Brooklyn hospitals reported increases in
visits related to respiratory ailments.

While I share several concerns with my colleagues about the
health consequences stemming from the WTC disaster, I especially
look forward to hearing from the witnesses on this issue.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I yield back the balance of my time.
And again, I thank you for holding this hearing in the greatest

city in the world.
Thank you. I yield back.
Mr. SHAYS. I think most people agree, it is the greatest city in

the world. It is. And those of us who live near it, recognize that
what happens to New York directly impacts us, and we care deeply
about this greatest city in the world.

Mr. Nadler, we are delighted to have you join us. Mr. Nadler is
not a member of the Government Reform Committee. He is a very
active member, particularly of the Judiciary Committee. And he is,
I think, the Representative who represents the district, we are
talking about directly Ground Zero. And at this time, Mr. Nadler,
you have the floor.

Mr. NADLER. Well, thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Let me begin by thanking you for holding this hearing today re-

garding the health effects of the September 11th terrorist attack on
those who live or work near Ground Zero, and particularly for al-
lowing me to participate in this committee, though I am not a
member of the committee.

As the Member of Congress representing Ground Zero, I have
heard from far too many constituents in the last 2 years who have
health problems because of contaminants in World Trade Center
dust that the EPA refuses to clean up or to acknowledge, despite
the fact that OSHA considers the dust to be regulated asbestos con-
taining material and expert scientists have measured air pollution
levels worse than the Kuwaiti oil fires.

Two years ago in the days following September 11, the EPA said
the air in Manhattan was safe to breath, despite the fact that they
had no scientific evidence to make such a claim when they made
it, and they continued to make it even when they ample scientific
evidence that it was not true.

After hearing from many constituents who told me they were get-
ting sick and that the EPA refused to help them with decon-
taminating their apartments, in January 2002 I asked the EPA’s
ombudsman to investigate EPA’s inaction. After the EPA’s ombuds-
man’s office conducted two field hearings which elicited consider-
able information, the EPA showed its displeasure by dismantling
the ombudsman’s office.

In April 2002, I published a white paper on EPA’s malfeasance,
and in June testified of that year before the Senate on the inad-
equacy of the EPA’s indoor cleanup plan, which they announced a
mere 8 months after September 11 in May 2002.
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Two months ago the EPA’s Inspector General released the report
documenting what many thousands of New Yorkers already knew;
that the EPA had given false assurances to the people of New York
regarding the air we were breathing and that the EPA had refused,
and to this day refuses to take responsibility to decontaminate in-
door spaces such as apartments, offices and schools despite the fact
that they are legally mandated to do so.

We know that several hazardous substances were present in the
World Trade Center dust and were released into the environment
when the towers collapsed. Clearly, that presented a hazard for
rescue workers on the pile, and one of the purposes of today’s hear-
ing is to investigate the Government response to the sickness and
problems caused by those hazards, and what I would say is the
clearly inadequate Government response. But those hazardous sub-
stances were also present in World Trade Center dust that was
blasted, often with great force, into surrounding buildings and set-
tled in homes, schools and work places. Although the EPA declared
that the outdoor air was safe, and this declaration was premature,
enough time has passed that it is probably true that the outdoor
air is no longer a problem today. On the other hand, the problem
of indoor environments and exposure to hazardous World Trade
Center dust that settled inside buildings persists to this day. And
we have every reason to believe that thousands of people are
poisoned day-by-day indoors in work spaces, schools and homes,
and will continue to be so until action is taken to thoroughly inves-
tigate and clean up these spaces.

As OSHA’s Secretary John Henshaw wrote on January 31, 2002,
and I see in the packets that were presented here a copy of his let-
ter was placed, ‘‘In that the materials containing asbestos were
used in the construction of the Twin Towers, the settled dust from
their collapse must be presumed to contain asbestos’’ and therefore
OSHA Federal regulations apply to the removal of this material.
Nonetheless, the Government told the public is was safe and ad-
vised average citizens to clean up World Trade Center dust with
a wet mop and a wet rag, which was illegal advice if you assume
that has asbestos in it, as well as recklessly dangerous advice.

In May of last year, the EPA announced a limited indoor cleanup
plan. This plan was a complete sham designed to deflect criticism
of the agency, not to actually address the problem. And they prac-
tically admitted that by saying there is no problem, this is being
done to allay public fears; translation for PR.

As confirmed in the EPA IG report, the agency’s indoor clean up
program was wholly inadequate and did not meet even the mini-
mum criteria for protecting human health established by law. And
the EPA refused, despite repeated requests, to require that its con-
tractors in the clean up, require that their workers wear protective
equipment. So we can expect that many of the workers in the clean
up program a few months now will come down with respiratory ail-
ments.

The Federal Government has never followed its legally mandated
procedures to track the release of hazardous materials, character-
ize the site and clean up buildings contaminated in the terrorist at-
tack. And in this morning’s Juan Gonzalez’ article, he quoted this
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expert at ATSDR as saying that one of the first things they must
do is characterize the site, which they have never done.

It has not done the proper comprehensive testing to determine
who has been exposed, what they are exposed to and the full extent
of why this contamination has spread. This is why Senator Clinton
placed a hold on Governor Leavitt’s nomination as EPA Adminis-
trator, and she should be applauded for getting this issue back on
the national radar screen. But until the EPA agrees to fully do its
job, the issue will not go away.

This is a very real, serious and continuing health issue that must
be addressed. I refer to many constituents who have World Trade
Center debris in their homes and their work spaces and who are
now sick.

The title of this hearing is ‘‘Assessing September 11th Health Ef-
fects: What Should Be Done?’’ It is very obvious what should be
done. All the workers on the piles should have physical examina-
tions and their health care needs as a result of this catastrophe for
the balance of their lives should be paid for the Federal Govern-
ment. The Federal Government should carry out its mandated re-
sponsibility to clean up buildings contaminated in the terrorist at-
tack. The EPA should adopt and implement the recommendations
in the IG report, and the Federal Government should assume the
responsibility of ensuring the proper treatment for those sickened
by World Trade Center debris, particularly in cases where exposure
was the result of government negligence and malfeasance.

In conclusion, let me summarize by saying that I regard there
are being three victim populations that should be looked at sepa-
rately besides the people who were killed directly by the terrorist
attack.

One is those people who were exposed, who got an acute expo-
sure by being caught in a toxic cloud. And we should monitor and
help them with their health problems, but no one is at fault other
than the terrorist.

Second are those responders who worked on the pile for 30, 40,
50 days without proper protective equipment, have gotten sick as
a result. And after the first few days it was inexcusable that not
everyone was wearing proper protective equipment. And, again, we
have to examine all these people, we have to take care of their
problems. But somebody should be held responsible for why proper
protective measures were not taken.

Third and finally, are the thousands of people who are today liv-
ing and working in contaminated work spaces, contaminated
schools which have not been inspected and have not been cleaned
up and we can predict that 15 years from now many of them will
come down with mesothelioma or asbestosis or lung cancer. We can
also predict that we can greatly minimize that problem if we do
this proper inspection and clean up now, which is why this is a cur-
rent issue. It is not simply a question of dealing with past dam-
ages. We can still eliminate most of the health problems from those
people if the EPA follows the inspections, properly looks at all the
neighborhoods, not just below Canal Street but wherever that dust
cloud went, inspects and cleans up.

I thank you again, Mr. Chairman, for holding this hearing and
I look forward to hearing the testimony of the witnesses today.
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. I thank the gentleman very much.
I am just going to do a little housekeeping here and ask unani-

mous that all members of the subcommittee be permitted to place
an opening statement in the record. And that the record remain
open for 3 days for that purpose.

Without objection, so ordered.
I ask further unanimous consent that all witnesses be permitted

to include their written statement in the record. And without objec-
tion, so ordered.

I ask even further unanimous consent that Representative
Towns, a member of the Government Reform Committee and any
other member of the Government Reform Committee who may
show up, and Representative Jerry Nadler sit with this committee
as a full participant. And without objection, so ordered.

Before recognizing the witnesses, I want to say since this is the
first hearing, this hearing will raise many questions, a number will
not be answered today nor will we even seek to get some questions
answered. We have heard very important statements from all the
participants at this hearing. Ultimately, it would be the goal of this
committee to have every one of those questions answered and every
problem dealt with.

At this hearing, and I want to say I am going to be pretty fo-
cused on this and pretty strict in adhering to it, at this hearing we
are focused on the workers and first responders’ health conditions,
their diagnoses, their treatment, their compensation. This hearing
does not focus on residents, it does not focus on other workers who
may work there. It does not focus yet on the clean up of facilities
there. And we will. We will focus on those issues and we will make
sure that any Member who has raised his questions, gets answers
to those questions.

At this time, I would recognize our participants. We have our
first panel.

Dr. Robin Herbert, co-director of the World Trade Center Worker
and Volunteer Medical Screening Program, Medical co-director of
Mount Sinai. And she is accompanied by Dr. Stephen Levin, co-di-
rector of the World Trade Center Worker and Volunteer Medical
Screening Program.

So Dr. Herbert will be giving the statement.
We then have Commissioner Thomas Frieden, a doctor at New

York Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. Dr. Michael
Weiden, medical officer, New York Fire Department; Mr. Phil
McArdle, health and safety officer, Uniformed Firefighters Associa-
tion; Mr. Jimmy Willis, vice chair for conductors, assistant to the
president, Transportation Workers Union; Mr. John Graham,
health and safety instructor, Carpenters Union, and; Mr. David
Rapp, former worker at the World Trade Center site.

We don’t usually have this many panelists. I have been liberal
when we have a smaller panel of being able to go over the 5-min-
utes. I would really respectfully ask that you submit your state-
ment in 5 minutes. And if you think you need to redo it a little bit,
I can skip over you to give you a little time. But if you go 5° min-
utes, maybe a little longer, but we would like you stay somewhere
within that range.
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And so at that time I need to do one more. If you can all stand
up in this cozy area we have, but I do need you to stand. I do need
to swear you in.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. SHAYS. Note for the record all the witnesses have responded

in the affirmative.
We are going to start with you, Dr. Herbert, and we are just

going to kind of go down the line here. And we will do a lot of good
listening, that is why we are here.

STATEMENTS OF DR. ROBIN HERBERT, CO-DIRECTOR OF THE
WORLD TRADE CENTER WORKER AND VOLUNTEER MEDI-
CAL SCREENING PROGRAM, MEDICAL CO-DIRECTOR OF
MOUNT SINAI; DR. STEPHEN LEVIN, CO-DIRECTOR OF THE
WORLD TRADE CENTER WORKER AND VOLUNTEER MEDI-
CAL SCREENING PROGRAM; COMMISSIONER THOMAS
FRIEDEN, A DOCTOR AT NEW YORK DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND MENTAL HYGIENE; DR. MICHAEL WEIDEN,
MEDICAL OFFICER, NEW YORK FIRE DEPARTMENT; PHIL
McARDLE, HEALTH AND SAFETY OFFICER, UNIFORMED
FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION; JIMMY WILLIS, VICE CHAIR
FOR CONDUCTORS, ASSISTANT TO THE PRESIDENT, TRANS-
PORTATION WORKERS UNION; JOHN GRAHAM, HEALTH AND
SAFETY INSTRUCTOR, CARPENTERS UNION; AND DAVID
RAPP, FORMER WORKER AT THE WORLD TRADE CENTER
SITE

Dr. HERBERT. Thank you. Thank you for asking me to testify
today.

The September 11th terrorist attacks on the World Trade Center
resulted in horrific loss of life. Amid the shock and grief we all ex-
perienced immediately after the attacks, some failed to recognize
that the terrorists had also created one of the worst acute urban
environmental disasters ever to occur in U.S. history.

Soon after the attacks, various New York area health care pro-
viders, including ourselves, began seeing workers and others with
serious health problems due to their World Trade Center expo-
sures. Many of us participated in the working group assembled by
NIOSH to develop common approaches to the diagnoses and treat-
ment of World Trade Center related health problems.

In June 2002, Mt Sinai received $11.8 million in Federal funding
to establish the World Trade Center Worker and Volunteer Medical
Screening Program. This funding enabled us to design and coordi-
nate a consortium of health care centers in the New York metro-
politan area, and nationally, to provide free medical screening ex-
aminations for World Trade Center responders who were involved
in various rescue and recovery efforts.

In January 2003, we released some preliminary findings from
analysis of 250 of the first 500 people who had come through the
program. We reported that 78 percent had at least one World
Trade Center related pulmonary symptom while working or vol-
unteering at the site, and 46 percent were still experiencing at
least one pulmonary symptom in the month before the screening
exam up to 10 months after September 11th. Eighty-eight percent
had at least one World Trade Center related ear, nose or throat
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symptom while performing World Trade Center response work, and
52 percent were still experiencing at least one ear, nose and throat
symptom in the month before the screening examination.

Finally, 52 percent reported mental health symptoms requiring
further evaluation when they came for screening.

We have now seen over 8,000 men and women in our screening
program and we now know that a substantial number of World
Trade Center responders have developed upper and lower res-
piratory problems that are lasting as long as 2 years. However we
do not know what the long term effects of the World Trade Center
exposures will be, and in particular we are concerned about can-
cers.

Because of the high prevalence of persistent World Trade Center
related health problems we were seeing, as well as the worry about
what the long term consequences might be, it became clear that
there was a need for both long term medical monitoring of respond-
ers as well as a need for medical treatment for those who have de-
veloped World Trade Center illnesses. For these reasons we joined
with fellow occupational health experts, labor leaders and con-
cerned Federal legislators in an intensive year long lobby for Fed-
eral resources for long term medical monitoring.

Last February it was announced that this money had been ap-
propriated. Although we still await the final award of the funding,
we join with thousands of ill and injured workers and volunteers
in our appreciation of your efforts to secure those resources. Of the
$90 million allocated in the early winter of 2003, $4 million has
been provided to allow us to expand the baseline medical screening
program so that 3,000 additional workers and volunteers will re-
ceive free comprehensive medical screening examines.

Another $25 million is allocated specifically for examinations of
New York City firefighters. And the remaining funding, approxi-
mately $56 million, will be used to establish, coordinate and con-
duct a program for long term medical monitoring of World Trade
Center responders. However, these funds are unfortunately insuffi-
cient to provide periodic medical examinations of World Trade Cen-
ter responders for the 20 years that we would advocate.

We estimate that the current funding will support a program to
conduct screening examinations of 12,000 responders every year
and a half for 5 years only. However, we would recommend screen-
ing for a minimum of 20 years because the World Trade Center re-
sponders sustained exposures without precedent. These exposures
may cause new, unexpected health consequences, including possibly
cancers, which would be unlikely to show up for at least 15 years
after the time of exposure. This means that the screening program
as currently funded will not last long enough to ensure that dis-
eases that develop only after years have passed, can be detected
when they’re still treatable.

Equally pressing at this time is the need for treatment. We’re
identifying many people who need ongoing treatment for World
Trade Center related physical and mental health problems. But,
unfortunately, there is still not an adequately funded treatment
program. At Mount Sinai we’ve sought and received funding from
private philanthropic sources to establish a treatment program for
a limited number of World Trade Center responders. But philan-
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thropy simply cannot provide all the sources necessary to provide
care who need it.

Among the first 350 patients we have seen in our treatment pro-
gram, we have found that 75 percent have persistent World Trade
Center related upper respiratory problems; 44 percent have persist-
ent World Trade Center related lung problems, and; 40 percent
have persistent mental health consequences related to the disaster.
But, 40 percent do not have medical insurance and about one-third
are now unemployed. It is, thus, urgent that funding be made
available to provide access to medical and mental health care for
all whose sustained health consequences from the World Trade
Center disaster; workers and volunteers involved in rescue and re-
covery, workers from the immediate area and area residents as
well as their children.

In conclusion, funding is vitally needed to: One, to supplement
the current appropriated dollars in order to extend the duration of
the long term medical monitoring program for a minimum of 20
years; two, to ensure access to treatment for all World Trade Cen-
ter related health problems identified in screening programs; three,
to ensure that those who develop future health problems related to
World Trade Center exposures are able to receive treatment for
those conditions, and; four, to support clinical research to better
understand the human health consequences of the exposures, and
most importantly, to identify treatment modalities for those condi-
tions.

Surely those who responded so selflessly to the disaster deserve
no less.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Dr. Herbert follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you very much, Doctor.
Commissioner.
Dr. FRIEDEN. Thank you very much.
Mr. SHAYS. Is the mic on?
Dr. FRIEDEN. Good morning. Can you hear?
I am Dr. Thomas Frieden, commissioner of the New York City

Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.
I want to thank Chairman Shays of the committee and especially

Congresswoman Maloney for holding these hearings in New York
City.

The immediate effects of September 11 included the deaths from
terrorist attack of nearly 2,800 New Yorkers in addition to the pas-
sengers and crew of the two planes that crashed into the WTC. Our
efforts now are focused on the many people who may experience
long term health problems as a result of September 11.

The WTC Health Registry is a critically important effort to
evaluate the short and long term effects to both physical and men-
tal health that may result from September 11. A comprehensive,
strictly confidential health survey of the most highly exposed peo-
ple, it will identify which groups and exposures most increase the
risk of health problems and which are most in need of medical
intervention. Significant findings will be shared as soon as they be-
come available and reports will be posted on the Web every 3
months. We intend to track the health of persons who enroll for up
to 20 years.

The registry is unique. It is the only project that will allow com-
parisons across groups and facilitate long term followup of a large
representative group of people with a wide range of exposures and
health histories. It is our best chance to find out both the spectrum
of health effects from September 11 and to identify and target serv-
ices for the medical needs arising from September 11. Findings will
help participants, others exposed and the general public and will
provide critical information for medical professionals who evaluate
and treat exposed persons. It is a systematic evaluation that should
allow us to make conclusions about the health effects of September
11 both for those who participate and for those who do not partici-
pate in the registry.

It is not an attempt to identify and monitor every exposed per-
son. It is also not a telephone diagnostic program intended pri-
marily to find people with medical problems and provide care.

The registry will identify syndromes and conditions associated
with exposure and will put clinical studies into perspective. We
need both the detailed clinical evaluation that is provided by
Mount Sinai and NYU and others, and the comprehensive ap-
proach the registry provides.

The registry is a collaboration between the health department,
ATSDR, FEMA and New York City community and business orga-
nizations. The development of the scientific plan for the registry
has, from its inception, involved the collaboration of scientists from
many academic institutions both within and outside of New York
City.

ATSDR has committed funding for project years 2 through 5 for
core functions. However beginning in calendar 2005 we will need
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at last $2 million more per year for basic registry functions for the
intended 20 year life of the project.

We are very pleased with the response to the registry in the first
8 weeks of enrollment. More than 10,000 people have completed
the telephone interview. Another 5,000 have preregisted, and these
numbers continue to increase each day. We are also reaching tens
of thousands of others for whom we already have contact informa-
tion.

The registry has a Federal certificate of confidentiality ensuring
protection of individual information from subpoena or Freedom of
Information Act requests.

The registry is the most recent of many activities conducted by
the health department following September 11. These include:
Syndromic surveillance to identify clusters of illness; inspection of
food distribution, mandated washing stations; emergency depart-
ment monitoring for injuries; rescue worker injury and illness mon-
itoring; community needs assessment of Lower Manhattan; indoor
air quality assessment.

And the department also implemented Project Liberty, a FEMA
funded crises counseling and public education program. Project Lib-
erty has assisted more than 900,000 New Yorkers effected by Sep-
tember 11 serving a population ethnically diverse and similar to
the city as a whole.

Project Liberty is scheduled to end on December 31st of this
year. We are hopeful for an extension so that the fire and edu-
cation department programs can continue.

We thank you for your interest and support. However, much
more needs to be done both to address the needs of those still suf-
fering from the effects of the attack and to ensure that we are as
prepared as we can be. The city continues to ask the administra-
tion and Congress to provide bioterrorism and Homeland Security
funding based on risk and consequence.

We were the target of two of the four planes hijacked on Septem-
ber 11. We were the target of four of seven anthrax-laden envelopes
sent in the fall of 2001. And we are the target of most of the terror-
ist chatter that mentions a specific location. But despite having
more than half of the Nation’s recent attacks and having more
than half of the risk of future attacks, we receive less than one for-
tieth of the Federal dollars for bioterrorism preparedness.

In fact, per capita New York City ranks a shocking 45th out of
the 54 jurisdictions receiving bioterrorism funding.

We have asked the administration and Congress for more than
$900 million for emergency preparedness, $100 million of which is
for the health department. And as I noted before, the WTC Health
Registry, our best chance to know the health effects of September
11 and most effectively target long term interventions has a large
funding gap in the out years.

Thank you for your interest and continued support.
I will be happy to answer question.
[The prepared statement of Commissioner Frieden follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00040 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



37

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00041 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



38

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00042 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



39

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00043 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



40

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00044 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



41

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00045 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



42

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00046 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



43

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00047 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



44

Mr. SHAYS. Dr. Weiden.
Dr. WEIDEN. Chairman and members, today I’ve been asked to

talk about the health and welfare of FDNY firefighters and the
EMS rescue workers after September 11. I will focus on what les-
sons we have learned and what changes should be made as we
move forward.

On September 11, two 110 story towers and several other build-
ings collapsed during rescue and evacuation. With these collapses,
FDNY firefighters and the EMS rescue workers went from being
first responders to victims. Although, first responders accounted for
nearly 12 percent of the dead, our surviving firefighters and EMS
and rescue workers continued to work uninterrupted both at the
WTC site and throughout NYC. We must never forget that despite
the tragedy of that day, FDNY successfully evacuated over 20,000
civilians and saved countless lives. The extraordinary heroism of
our firefighters and rescue workers will forever remain a beacon of
courage, commitment and dedication.

WTC dust is pulverized concrete, fibrous glass, silicates, carbon
particulate matter and asbestos. The upper airways were over-
whelmed by this burden and the dust had an extraordinarily high
pH causing deep burns of lung, sinuses and esophagus.

Since inhaling this dust can cause considerable harm, it was im-
portant to find out if masks or respirators were available and were
actually worn by FDNY rescue workers. By week two, 70 percent
of firefighters had the proper respiratory for this exposure, but only
30 percent were able to wear it most of the time. Why? Because
these masks were uncomfortable and difficult to communicate to
through others.

To improve respiratory protection at future disasters, we need
better planning, improved respiratory design and supply. Two
years after the WTC, we still don’t have that. Improved design and
supply will naturally lead to improve compliance.

FDNY Bureau of Health Services understood the need to provide
immediate medical monitoring and treatment. From October 2001
to February 2002 we provided every FDNY firefighter and EMS
worker with the opportunity for a full medical. We also partnered
with the CDC and NOISH to provide specialized tests that were
not part of our standard medical.

Several months into the World Trade Center rescue and recovery
effort, two Port Authority Police officers were reported to have high
mercury levels. In response, authorities wanted to close down the
site. That would have created enormous emotional stress to every
family member still waiting for a loved one to be found. At that
point FDNY’s Bureau of Health Services had already done urinary
mercury levels on over 8,000 people and none were elevated. These
findings allowed the site to remain open, a major untold benefit for
families of the missing.

We have found that 25 percent of the highest exposed FDNY fire-
fighters have airway hyper reactivity and many have asthma or re-
active airways dysfunction. To date, 280 FDNY firefighters have
qualified for retirement disability pensions due to permanent lung
impairment, and we project that anywhere from 300 to 500 addi-
tional firefighters will ultimately be permanently impaired from
respiratory disease.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00048 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



45

Respiratory problems are not the only issues FDNY is coping
with. Since September 11 our firefighters and the EMS rescue
workers have been functioning under incredibly high stress levels.
They have lost coworkers, they have lost friends, they have lost
family. They have a different role in life now. They’ve been exposed
not just to fires, they have been exposed to a new mission.

In our FDNY WTC medical monitoring program, 48 percent of
our rescue workers reported difficulty sleeping; 36 percent reported
unusual irritability; 34 percent reported difficulty concentrating,
and; 33 percent reported anxiety. These are major problems for
people who did not have problems pre-WTC.

Eighty percent of our firefighters and EMS rescue workers, inde-
pendent of their age or their extent of WTC exposure indicate that
they are concerned about their health, and 20 percent are worried
about that their future may be cut short.

Since September 11 our counseling unit has rapidly expanded to
provide educational group and individual sessions using funding
from Project Liberty, the IAFF and FDNY and local unions and pri-
vate philanthropists. Project Liberty dollars supplemented by these
other sources has allowed us to provide individual counseling ses-
sions to over 5,700 FDNY rescue workers and families. These indi-
vidual counseling sessions are in addition to the many group ther-
apy, firehouse briefings, department wide interventions that we’ve
done since that time.

To serve their needs and to allow FDNY to continue to serve the
needs of New York, it is essential that Project Liberty be continued
past its 2004 end date.

In conclusion, we cannot prevent the exposures that have already
occurred to these men, but through the long term medical monitor-
ing and counseling programs that I’ve described today, we can all
work to restore the health of those who did survive. That is why
the Federal funding provided for long term medical monitoring of
WTC rescue workers is critically important. We are glad that the
recent agreement has been made that should help with the release
of these funds. We need to continue our commitment to each FDNY
firefighter and EMS rescue worker, a covenant that states when
you come out of the flames, we will be there for you.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Weiden follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Dr. Weiden. I know that you had to skip
over parts of your testimony. The whole testimony will be a part
of the record. And I appreciate your assisting us. And I know oth-
ers of you did that as well.

Mr. McArdle.
Mr. MCARDLE. Good morning, everyone.
I am Philip McArdle, health and safety officer for the Uniformed

Firefighters Association. I would like to thank this committee for
inviting me to present this information to you on behalf of the
8,500 firefighters serving the city of New York.

It has been over 2 years since the September 11 attacks and al-
most 1 year since the UFA lobbying before the U.S. Congress for
September 11 medical monitoring money. Many of the long term
health issues that I will discuss here today have been reported
many times to committees, in congressional hearings and to the
Department of Homeland Security. Unfortunately, even after the
countless task forces, testimonies, circumstances have not changed
for the members of the Uniformed Firefighters Associations. In
fact, in the opinion of the executive board and our membership, the
situation has gotten worse.

In the days following September 11, many firefighters were not
given the proper respiratory protection devices, even though com-
plaints about this issue had been made for years. The department
did not have still does not have a respiratory protection program
as required by Federal regulations for air purifying respirators for
well over 10 years. This is clearly a violation of the Code of Federal
Regulations 29 CFR 1910.134, which states the standards for res-
piratory equipment supervision and use. The results of improper
respiratory protection are clearly stated in a study conducted by
Mount Sinai more than a year ago, with support of the National
Institute for Occupational Safety and Health that found that 78
percent participating first responders reported at least one WTC
related pulmonary symptom. The same study reported that 52 per-
cent of the September 11 workers are suffering from some form of
post-traumatic stress syndrome. It was within 1 year that these
numbers have increased. Unfortunately, we cannot provide you
with any specific data about the amount of increase in the health
problems because the funds that were allocated for the long term
medical care of our members have yet to be distributed to the
FDNY Bureau of Health Services. We are still waiting for that
money, and it has not come.

The hold up in the distribution of funds coupled with the reality
that no money has been allocated for treatment of WTC victims’ re-
lated illnesses has resulted in the health needs of our membership
being neglected because of partisan politics and bureaucratic red
tape.

As of October 2003, the FDNY has retired approximately 1,800
firefighters due to WTC related illnesses. And I’m just going to
break from my testimony for 1 second to make another point. As
late as last night I was told by the department that there are still
some 600 members of our department who are still waiting to be
processed out of the organization.

Both the union and the fire department agree that this unprece-
dented retirement rate will continue as more firefighters are exam-
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ined and diagnosed with September 11 related illnesses. All 1,800
of these firefighters were healthy before September 11, and would
have most likely worked for the fire department for an average of
20 years or longer, which had been the trend prior to September
11. Instead, we have members who in some cases are as young as
30 years old, who will be disabled for the rest of their lives.

As retirement decreases, it will cost more for long term health
care than ever before. Prescription drugs is our biggest concern.
The New York City Firefigher WTC medical monitoring treatment
that will be run by FDNY Bureau of Health Services with joint
sponsorship of the UFA, UFOA and the EMS/Paramedic Unions
has found that in the first month four firefighters required life sup-
port, mechanical ventilation, for chest surgery for severe res-
piratory stress following WTC exposure during the collapse. Nine-
ty-five percent of the firefighters complained of new-onset res-
piratory symptoms, mostly cough, during the first week. In the first
6 months following the collapse, 343 FDNY firefighters required
more than 1 month of medical leave for new onset respiratory ill-
nesses such as asthma. And nearly 2 years later, over 1,800 FDNY
firefighters have or in the process of receiving permanent disability
for new onset of post-WTC asthma and respiratory injuries.

Random volunteer testing of the highest exposed of FDNY fire-
fighters present during the first day of collapse has found that 25
percent have new onset, post-WTC airway hyper reactivity/asthma
on objective medical testing—methacholinechallenge testing. This
has persisted on serial testings. Firefighters who were not present
during the collapse but were there during intense rescue and recov-
ery efforts over the next 48 hours, nearly 7 percent have new onset
post-WTC and persistent airway hyper reactivity.

This is not a New York City issue. This is a national issue be-
cause the U.S. Government is handling the situation. It is, and will
be looked at as a template for what could happen in the future.
Long term health problems, increased disability claims and the rise
in the cost of prescription drugs needed to treat these problems will
financially impact everyone, not just the people in New York City.

We strongly believe that the $25 million that was appropriated
specifically for firefighter/EMS long term health care monitoring
needs to be distributed to the FDNY Bureau of Health Services as
soon as possible. This program is already in operation and is care-
fully monitored by an expert advisory panel that includes many no-
table experts in this and related fields. This program is in danger
of ending without funding that has already been appropriate but
not yet provided.

Furthermore, our initial findings clearly indicate that additional
services will be needed. We strongly urge that every dollar go for
its original intention: The medical care of our rescue workers. $25
million should immediately be transferred to this program.

These dedicated firefighters and the EMS workers rightfully de-
serve long term health care and monitoring funding immediately.
They deserve to be treated with the dignity and dedication that
they rightfully earned when they risked their lives and health
while participating in the largest rescue and recovery effort in his-
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tory.
Thank you very much for your time.
It would be my pleasure to answer any questions you have re-

garding this issue.
[The prepared statement of Mr. McArdle follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00060 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



57

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00061 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



58

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00062 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



59

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00063 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



60

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00064 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



61

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Willis.
Mr. WILLIS. Good morning.
Mr. SHAYS. Good morning.
Mr. WILLIS. I would like to thank the Chair and the members of

the committee for the opportunity to speak on these vital issues.
My name is Jimmy Willis. I’m here on behalf of President Roger

Toussaint and members of the Transport Workers Union, Local
100, the subway and bus workers of the MTA New York City Tran-
sit, and most particularly on behalf of our 4,000 members who
worked ‘‘on the pile’’ at Ground Zero.

On the morning of September 11, 2001, as the Twin Towers
burned, there were two evacuations in progress. One, of course, of
the towers was due to the heroic efforts of fire, police and emer-
gency response teams. The other evaluation took place in the sub-
ways and buses in, around and under the Trade Center and was
accomplished by Transit workers.

Due to the fact that the disaster occurred during rush hours,
there were dozens of crowded buss in the area and approximately
200,000 passengers in the subway trains in the area. All of these
passengers were safely evacuated without injury by Transit work-
ers. Hundreds of evacuations began simultaneously in the transit
network around Ground Zero. Two of those evacuations are indic-
ative of what transpired.

In the minutes before the first collapse, train operator Hector Ra-
mirez had instructions to bypass the World Trade Center by sub-
way control. As his train entered the station, Ramirez saw hun-
dreds of panicked screaming passengers. Despite orders, he stopped
his train. Ramirez and his conductor then evaluated everyone from
the platform and took the train out of the station. That was the
last train through before the towers collapsed.

One block from the Trade Center bus operator Franklin Chan-
dler stood by with his bus in case he was needed. After the towers
collapsed, Chandler did not leave his post. HE searched through
the debris for injured survivors, placed them on his bus until it was
full, and drove them all to area hospitals.

New York City Transit must be ready to rebuild and repair the
largest subway system in the world. Thousands of Local 100 mem-
bers are hard hats: welders, track workers, payload operators, car-
penters, ironworkers, etc. At approximately 11 a.m. on September
11th all of Transit’s heavy equipment was mobilized to the Brook-
lyn waterfront and loaded on barges. Thousands of transit workers
then sailed with the equipment to Manhattan and began the tor-
turous process of digging through the pile.

The U.S. Department of Transportation has recently released a
report which states that: The MTA played a critical role in the res-
cue effort at Ground Zero and in helping restore parts of the city’s
infrastructure including communications, and; at one point MTA
employees comprised 60 percent of the rescue force at Ground Zero.

Unfortunately, this level of response has come at a terrible price.
It is well documented that rescue workers were exposed to asbes-
tos, mercury, lead, pulverized glass and concrete, a virtual toxic
soup. Transit workers toiled for weeks at Ground Zero without res-
pirators. Unfortunately, New York Transit, New York City Depart-
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ment of Health and New York State deferred site air quality and
safety to the EPA. Of the 4,000 transit workers who responded to
Ground Zero, as many as half of us are now seriously ill. Thou-
sands of other rescue workers are also ill. Most of us should not
have been allowed to work at the site without appropriate personal
protection. The investigation into the EPA Inspector General’s re-
port, as well as the EPA’s role with regards to Ground Zero air
quality must be thoroughly and completely investigated.

Local 100 members who were at Ground Zero are now suffering
from respiratory disease, gastrointestinal disorders and depression.
The same afflictions our brothers and sisters from the fire depart-
ment, police department, emergency service and building trades
are facing. I can attest to this. I worked with our welders at the
site. As a result of my time spent at Ground Zero, I’ve been diag-
nosed with gastrointestinal disorders and lifelong respiratory dis-
ease. I am only one of many.

We at Transit work for a State agency that is self insured for
workers compensation and has, as a result, controverted every sin-
gle case, comp case, arising out of Ground Zero. Among those cases
is bus operator, the Reverend Franklin Chandler, who I previously
mentioned, and who saved so many lives on September 11th. When
he filed for injuries arising out of his heroic work that day, he was
termed a liar, malingerer and fraud by Transit. He and his family
went 8 months without a check until a compensation judge ruled
in favor. It is outrageous that men and women who risked their
lives for their country and on behalf of others should be so callously
treated.

Local 100 President Roger Toussaint insisted the New York City
Transit partner with us in a counseling program aimed at alleviat-
ing some of the trauma associated with Ground Zero among transit
workers. I coordinated that program on the local’s behalf. After
helping only 150 of the 4,000 members at Ground Zero, New York
City Transit pulled out of the program once they became aware of
its workers comp implications.

The issue of medical treatment and compensation arising out of
work at Ground Zero and the cost associated with it, should right-
fully be borne at the Federal level. Appropriations for this must
come through Congress and be signed by the President.

Many Local 100 members have been seen by the staff at Mount
Sinai World Trade Center Clinic. This program provides for initial
and followup screenings, and the programs is federally funded. The
medical and support staff at the Mount Sinai World Trade Center
Clinic have been wonderful. My members continually praise the
care they receive there. Any thought to reducing this primary
source of care to make more available to satellite clinics is ill ad-
vised. Rather, an increase in funding is called for. However, an in-
crease in funding for screenings is not nearly enough. The members
of my local are utilizing their own medical benefits to cover the
costs of actual care. In 2 years when we begin contract negotiations
with the MTA, they will point to the burdensome charges carried
by our health plan. Costs associated with Ground Zero work. The
reality is that New York City Transit will seek to renegotiate down
our health benefits due directly to so many members utilizing care
because of Ground Zero related illness.
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Those of us who responded to Ground Zero are in crises. The re-
sponse to that crises on a State and Federal level has been sorely
lacking. Federal funds need to be allocated immediately to cover
the cost of health care for those who sacrificed at Ground Zero. Ad-
ditionally, the MTA, a New York State agency, needs to realize
that those of us who responded to Ground Zero must have imme-
diate access to our workers compensation benefits without needless
controversy.

Finally, congressional leaders applauded the rescuers at Ground
Zero. On September 13, 2001, President Bush appeared at Ground
Zero and thanked us for being there when this country needed us.
We ask the same thing, Mr. President. Those of us who were there
when our country needed us are now in peril. Will you and Con-
gress help us now that we are in need.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Willis follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Willis.
Mr. Graham. Thank you. We’re all set.
Mr. GRAHAM. Hello. My name is John Graham. I am a health &

safety instructor and officer of the New york District Council of
Carpenters. In addition, I am an emergency medical technician. I
participated in the initial response, rescue, recovery and clean up
operation at the World Trade Center site, beginning the morning
of September 11th and ending May 30, 2002.

On the morning of September 11th, I reported to the World
Trade Center on behalf of the carpenter’s union as a safety officer
to assist and aid my fellow carpenters who were working at the
World Trade Center who might be in need of my assistance due to
the initial plane crash. Upon reaching the scene I was utilized by
emergency personnel as an EMT. Stationed at the base of the
North Tower I witnessed the more horrific events that I have ever
seen in my life, the events that continue to haunt me to this day.
I continued to perform my duties despite the appalling scene un-
folding before me until I was momentarily incapacitated by the col-
lapse of the World Trade Center.

With the collapse of the Twin Towers, I and those around me
present on that day and those who came to the scene in the days
and weeks that followed became victims of the worse chemical ex-
posure events in the history of the United States.

On the day I was, I was engulfed in a toxic cloud composed of
but not limited to pulverized asbestos, lead, mercury, cadmium,
PCBs and benzene which are known to be highly corrosive to
human lungs. This cloud that contaminated much of lower Manhat-
tan and Brooklyn, unbeknownst to the innocent people living and
working in the neighborhoods surrounding the World Trade Center
site. My exposure to this toxic soup of carcinogenics continued
through the 262 days I worked at the World Trade Center site.

Almost immediately I began to feel the ill effects of the exposure.
In the moments after the cloud of the collapse of the World Trade
Center began to clear, I and those around me lucky enough to be
alive, began to choke, gag and vomit from the forced inhalation of
the toxic cloud. I had to rinse my face and eyes to try to find relief
from the severe burning sensation I was feeling on my skin and my
eyes.

Within 2 weeks of my initial exposure, I began to develop severe
respiratory symptoms requiring medical attention. Knowing Dr.
Stephen Levin of Mount Sinai Occupational and Medical Center,
and his expertise in these medical chemical exposures on a job site,
I turned to him for his medical expertise.

Since October 2001 I have been receiving treatment from Dr.
Levin and his staff at Mount Sinai for my respiratory and other ex-
posures resulting from the chemical exposure at the World Trade
Center site. I have been diagnosed with and continue to suffer from
RADS, reactive airway disease, a chronic form of asthma resulting
from the chemical exposure at the World Trade Center site. My
rescue inhaler is my constant companion, despite the staff at
Mount Sinai doing their best to help me with my medical problems
as possible at this time.
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In addition to my medical problems, I have been and continue to
suffer from chronic post-traumatic stress disorder, for which I have
been receiving treatment since October 2001.

Prior to September 11th, I was a healthy, hard working father,
son and husband. Today, I am a chronically ill man who is anxious
about my ability to support my family. I am no longer able to work
as a carpenter. My chronic asthmatic condition makes it difficult
for me to carry out my duties as a safety officer, father, son and
husband. I often have to stop my activities to use my inhaler and
catch my breath. It breaks my heart not to be able to run and play
with my two daughters, as I once was able.

I’m not alone in my ill effects that I am suffering from the chemi-
cal exposure on September 11 and the days after. I am one of thou-
sands. Despite the best treatment available, we continue to experi-
ence severe symptoms. And more research is needed to understand
the diseases we suffer from and the treatments that will effectively
bring relief.

I am not naive enough to think that anyone can cure us from our
chemical exposure we have experienced, but some relief would be
nice.

On September 11th, 2,811 people were killed. My greatest fear
is that the number of fatalities from the World Trade Center attack
will continue to rise as time goes on and those of us exposed to this
toxic soup begin to die off from the long term effects of this deadly
chemical exposure.

It is only with the support of Martin Daly, my boss, and the Na-
tional Institute of Environmental Health Sciences and the doctors
and staff at Mount Sinai that I am able to continue and function
at this time.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Graham follows:]

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00072 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



69

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00073 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



70

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00074 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



71

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00075 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



72

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Graham.
Mr. Rapp.
Mr. RAPP. Good morning, committee, members of Mount Sinai,

ladies and gentlemen. My name is David Rapp. I’m a construction
worker with the Local 1456 Dock Builders District Council of Car-
penters.

I was at Ground Zero for near 5 months including 3 days of the
first week of the terrorist attack. I hope my testimony is going to
make everyone aware of what we experienced at Ground Zero and
what I and others are going through now.

I viewed, smelled, handled things that you could not imagine. Al-
though I worked 12 hours a day, 7 days a week, I looked forward
back for another shift. I started experiencing health problems like
dizziness, shortness of breath and skin rash while I was still work-
ing down there. Although we accomplished what we set out to do,
which was keeping the slurry wall from collapsing as the debris
was removed, our job was installing tie-backs while being exposed
to who knows what.

My job was completed in March 2002 at Ground Zero. I went to
my next job at Kennedy Airport driving piles for American Airlines
where my ability and stamina had diminished. I was laid off the
first week of April and have not worked since.

I am a 42 year dock builder that normally could do as much as
a 22 year old, and more. I could carry a 150 pound tank of oxygen
or astatine a half a block through a rough job site. But now I can-
not even take out my household garbage.

I am also an auto mechanic with 5 certifications. After a long day
of dock building I could still come home and install a 200 pound
transmission on my back off my chest. Now I cannot even change
a flat tire.

There is a lot of fear in my life now. I have had several emer-
gency visits, several short stays in the hospital. I rely on oxygen
at night to sleep and I still wake up sometimes gasping for air try-
ing to stay calm. Sometimes I feel like I’m underwater.

I have had a sore throat for 15 months now. When I cough I can
feel the outlines of my lungs. I sleep on a recliner, straight up. I
cannot go out in the humidity or breath cold air. I need to keep
my house at a 65 degree temperature where my wife sleeps with
a quilt. I am on steroids, which have caused weight gain. I have
put on 50 pounds since I stopped working in April 2002, which
probably does not help my condition but the steroids do help.

I am on 12 other different medications, plus 3 types of inhalers.
And I carry an oxygen tank wherever I go for assistance to breath.
I cannot tell you how hard it is living like this. My fear of not being
able to get my next breath is unbearable.

I am going to two different doctors at this time. One is a Dr. Leo
Parnes and the other is Mount Sinai Health for Heros.

Mount Sinai has been great to me. They have been helping me
since November 2002. They helped me get immediate benefits from
workers compensation. Most importantly with the medications that
I rely on to breath. All of their staff have been compassionate and
express real concern for my future. They always make sure I have
enough medication.
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I would like to end this with I have a beautiful wife of 27 years
and two sons in their 20’s that fear for my future, as well.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Rapp follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Rapp for your testimony. Thank you
for being here today. We really appreciate it.

I am going to call on Mr. Owens, who has joined us. He is a very
active member of the full committee. And then it’s my intention to
recognize for questions Mrs. Maloney, then Mr. Turner, then Mr.
Towns, then Mr. Owens, then Mr. Nadler and then myself.

The usual procedure in Congress is that we have 5 minutes of
questions. This subcommittee prefers 10 because you can have bet-
ter followup. We are going to just set the clock at 7 minutes, Bob.

And at this time, though, Mr. Owens, this is not your question
time. But if you would like to make a statement, we welcome that.

Mr. OWENS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me begin by thanking you as chairman and my colleague

Carolyn Maloney for putting forth the effort to make this hearing
possible.

On April 28th of this year in response to a request by the Cen-
tral Labor Council under Brian McLaughlin and the New York
Committee on Occupational Safety and Health headed by Joel
Shufro, we held an unofficial hearing, Caroyln Maloney and I here
in New York on that worker Memorial Day, April 28th. And that
was several months before the EPA Inspector General issued his
report.

I see at least three of the people who testified at that hearing.
I want to thank them for their past testimony and for their testi-
mony here today.

We are making a headway at a very slow pace, but I think that
we are bringing the attention to the fact that what happened on
September 11 highlights something unfortunate about our govern-
ment. It says that certain governmental agencies have no respect
for residents and citizens and workers. They may even have con-
tempt for them. We have a Government that proposes now to bring
justice to Iraq. After liberating them, they’re going to provide jus-
tice and just government. But here the justice does not include tak-
ing care of the workers who are suffering now, in this country, as
a result of being victimized by an act of war. It was an act of war.
And many of our colleagues in Congress seem to think that New
York is asking for something special when it asks for this kind of
help. But it was an act of war. They were not targeting the World
Trade Center because it was in New York State or New York City.
They targeted the World Trade Center because it was a target of
the United States that was the target of the terrorists.

One of the ways that we must move at the State and city level,
along with the congressional delegation and the two Senators from
New York, is to keep insisting that the World Trade Center tragedy
was a result of an act against the United States of America. The
people of New York State and New York City should not be asked
to suffer unduly or to bear the cost of righting all the things that
have gone wrong as a result of September 11th. It was an act of
war.

Homeland Security becomes a farce if we are going to treat the
people who are on the front lines of Homeland Security with con-
tempt. And this situation shows that they are being treated with
contempt.
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We would like to see workers and all those who support workers
begin to scream louder and in a more continuous fashion to get this
injustice corrected.

In the war against terrorism, workers are going to be warriors
whether they like it or not. They are warriors. Workers must be
recognized and rewarded as heros. Certainly workers should re-
ceive the best medical care possible.

And I ask unanimous consent to enter a more expanded state-
ment into the record with documentation.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
Without objection, so ordered. It will be done.
This hearing is not, again, going to answer every question that

is raised. I am going to ask for the support of this committee to
make sure that we do not waste the opportunity with the witnesses
we have to look at the call of the hearing; and the call is what is
known about the short and long term health effects of the Septem-
ber 11th attack on those who worked at Ground Zero and live there
today, and how effective are the steps taken by the Federal and
local government to investigate health effects and provide treat-
ment for those injured.

We are interested in knowing.
To start with at this hearing, next hearing we will expand it, but

we want to know what is the health condition of those who were
working on Ground Zero. What type of diagnoses, treatment, com-
pensation, and we do not want to waste the opportunity to learn
the answers to these questions.

I realize some Members are going to ask some questions that we
may not have answers for. I felt very strongly that Members should
have an opportunity in their opening statements to address an
issue much wider than this hearing; put it on the record, challenge
the committee to deal with this issue during the course of our hear-
ings. And I think that is the challenge that we need to accept.

At this time, Mrs. Maloney, I recognize you for 7 minutes.
Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
And I thank all the panelists and I thank especially my col-

leagues for their ongoing support of efforts to help the victims, the
rescue workers and everyone with September 11.

And you have raised many, many issues that we need to address.
I find it startling that we did not have the proper equipment to
protect people and that we still do not have the proper equipment
to protect people in the event of a disaster.

But I have two questions that I would like to ask the entire
panel. And first of all, I would like to ask you to raise your hand
if you think the Federal Government can do more than it is doing
to help the workers, rescue workers and others because of the ef-
fects of September 11? Raise your hand if you think we should be
doing more?

Mr. SHAYS. For the transcriber, all our witnesses including Dr.
Levin has responded in the affirmative.

Mrs. MALONEY. And then I would like each of you very briefly,
because you could use up all of my 7 minutes and I do not want
it all used up, could you tell me very briefly what it is you feel the
Federal Government should be doing? And we are going to start
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with Dr. Herbert and go right down to Mr. Rapp. What more could
we be doing to be helpful? Very briefly.

Mr. SHAYS. Very briefly because I know time is short.
Dr. LEVIN. The issue has been addressed by several of the panel

members.
No. 1, there is a terrible need for treatment resources. I think

the witnesses here, the workers who are effected, made quite clear
that the resources available now really are a patchwork of a broken
workers compensation system and philanthropic funding, as well as
people’s private insurance or out-of-pocket. And this is no way,
from a public health perspective, for the Federal Government to ad-
dress what is clearly a public health need.

For people to have to jump through the hoops of a workers com-
pensation system that sets up barriers to their getting through that
system and getting actual treatment, benefits, and wage replace-
ment is an outrage, given what these people have done.

No. 2, we need adequate funding for followup evaluations of this
population. Those who have been screened already have exhibited
high rates of respiratory problems, high rates of psychological dis-
tress. We need to follow them in the short run. Out of the $90 mil-
lion, $60 million now can be used for the followup of this group of
responders. That is enough to cover, perhaps, 5 or 6 years of exami-
nations. It will require a great deal more funding to follow them
for the minimum of 20 years they should be followed, not only be-
cause we will learn something important scientifically about what
the consequences of exposure might be, but because people who
may develop these longer range illnesses need to have these ill-
nesses identified when they are treatable; that means the earliest
detection possible.

I do not have time to say much more. I will say only that we
need also a more comprehensive coordinated response in general,
should there be an event like this in the future, so that we are not
playing catch up and doing our first screening examinations 10
months after an event.

Dr. FRIEDEN. I’ll be brief. Three areas where we urge the Federal
Government to do more.

First, to fully fund the WTC Health Registry in the out years.
There is a funding gap of $2 million each year for 20 years.

Second, as all of the panel has noted, resources for referral and
medical care for those effected by September 11 are needed. They
are not sufficient as they currently exist. This is a national tragedy
that happened, the expenses are being borne by the city, by the
workers, and by the individuals who are effected. The Federal Gov-
ernment should step up to the plate and provide those referral and
treatment resources.

And third, in terms of future efforts, to prioritize New York City.
Please do not play politics with preparedness. We know that most
of the risk is to New York City. We have many needs for prepared-
ness that are not yet met. We need increased resources to meet
those needs.

Dr. WEIDEN. So I implore you to break the bureaucratic log jam
that is preventing money that has already been allocated from set-
ting up ongoing health monitoring. I am one of the two
pulmonologists working for the fire department. I routinely say
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goodby to people after they have gotten their disability retirements.
And I say wait for a letter from us stating when and where you
should show up for your long term monitoring. There is no such let-
ter being sent out. There is no place to bring these people back.
And the longer the gap between our ability to monitor them and
care for them, and some place that they can centrally be cared for,
the more people will fall in between that gap.

Mrs. MALONEY. Mr. McArdle.
Mr. MCARDLE. I just have four items. And basically I believe that

the Government should provide long time monitoring care for our
members. They also need to provide long term treatment for our
members, not just monitoring. But treatment. And also long term
care for our members.

Because the fourth item that I just want to mention is that the
Government has a responsibility to show the rest of the Nation
that if they follow a good template for taking care of the people in
New York, they can take care of the rest of the country the same
way. If they do not establish a good template for taking care of peo-
ple here, there is going to be no confidence in Government in the
future of taking care of these catastrophic events.

Mrs. MALONEY. Mr. Willis.
Mr. WILLIS. Thank you.
Federal appropriations for long term treatment and care is a

must. And frankly, with respect to Ground Zero, the State comp
process should be taken out of it. It should really be a Federal
function.

And, Congresswoman Maloney, I could not agree with you more;
if these issues are not taken care of now, if we have another disas-
ter, we are going to be hurting finding people to respond.

Mrs. MALONEY. Mr. Graham.
Mr. GRAHAM. My issue is I think that sooner or later I will be

disabled and the health coverage for myself is an issue, and for my
family. I am a sole provider for my family on health coverage. And
if I do go out on disability, besides for the one-third less salary I
will be bringing home, I will not have any health benefits for my
two daughters who are 9 and 5.

Mr. RAPP. I, too, like Mr. Graham am sole supporter. And I be-
lieve that we should be covered for our future. And instead of send-
ing billions of dollars over to other countries and stuff like that, we
should be taking care of that as a priority.

Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you.
Well, would you be surprised, Mr. Rapp and Mr. Graham, who

have been working and receiving workmans comp, that the State
of New York got $175 million to help pay for workers compensa-
tion. But you seem to be having trouble getting this money, Mr.
Willis, even though the money was appropriated by the Federal
Government, the $175 million? I guess he is telling me my time is
up, but if you could——

Mr. SHAYS. No, go ahead and answer the question.
Mrs. MALONEY. If you could. In other words, we sent the $175

million and you are saying you are having trouble getting it out of
workmans compensation and we should just abolish the program
and go straight to the Feds. But if you could explain? They are
turning down people like yourselves that have risked your lives to
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save others? Could you elaborate a little bit, because this has to be
addressed. We have to get the money to the people who sacrificed
their lives.

And I have to say, Mr. Graham and Mr. Rapp, if you do go out
on disability and you lose not only your income, to lose your health
insurance is just awful. At the very least, the Federal Government
should provide the health protection for those of you who risk your
lives. I thank all of you on behalf of my constituents in my city for
your brave efforts.

But could you respond to that, in fact we sent the money, so
what is the problem? They’re not processing or——

Mr. WILLIS. OK. With regards to transit workers, we work for a
State agency. New York City Transit is self insured for workers
compensation. As such, it is a budgetary process for them. Every
dollar they spend on comp is a dollar out of their budget. They are
holding a meeting today telling the people of the city of New York
how broke they are.

It is outrageous that every comp case for a State agency has been
controverted.

We have people who were down at Ground Zero who have been
fired because they were Section 71 by the State.

Mr. NADLER. What is Section 71?
Mr. WILLIS. OK. Section 71 if you have more than 12 months off

out of work on a comp case or on an injury or an illness, the State
can seek to terminate you, and they have.

In one case I know of a welder who was at Ground Zero, is one
of our transit workers. And some of you may remember in the first
days as horns went off went they thought there would be a build-
ing collapse, this guy was knocked down. He had a knee replace-
ment, was not able to get back to work. He has been fired. He is
not alone. OK.

This is a State agency.
Mrs. MALONEY. Well, we will followup on that.
My time is up. I thank the chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. Mr. Rapp, Mr. Graham, what about responders?
Mr. GRAHAM. I will just speak on my own behalf. My workmans

comp case has been controverted. So that is my—I know what that
means, but it means they are not paying.

Mr. SHAYS. For the record, what does it mean?
Mr. GRAHAM. It means that they are arguing my case. That they

are not actually——
Mr. SHAYS. They are protesting.
Mr. GRAHAM. They are protesting.
Mr. SHAYS. They’re protesting. OK. Fair enough.
Let us go on. How much time did we use on this question, totally

how much did we use. What does the clock say? OK.
Mr. Turner, you have the floor.
Mr. TURNER. Thank you.
I want to thank all the members of the panel for the spirit of

which they are approaching this. I appreciate Mr. Owens’ state-
ment that this is an act of war against our country and that the
individuals who have impacted in this have been impacted by a na-
tional catastrophe and an act of war.
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And, Mrs. Maloney’s statement that this is an issue that has bi-
partisan support. Because certainly the Nation’s response to this
was on a nonpartisan basis. So certainly our analysis of how we go
forward is also bipartisan and nonpartisan.

When Mrs. Maloney asked the question of how many people on
the panel think that the Federal Government could do more, I wish
you had allowed us to raise our hands, too. Because I would have
joined you, Mrs. Maloney, in saying that the Federal Government
can absolutely do more.

Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you, Mr. Turner.
Mr. TURNER. The question that we have, obviously, before us is

do more of what? And so it is not a neglect of the Federal Govern-
ment that there is not an action of our list of things that we could
do. This is the process that we go through, the deliberative process
of making certain that we do the things that are best and that
those get implemented.

I really appreciated the information on what are the things that
we need to do and the gap of treatment and making certain that
individuals that do not have access to treatment, receive the infor-
mation of followup and the coordinating of response.

I think we all want to make certain that the heroes of September
11 get the attention and response that they need, but our concern
is that the bureaucracies of September 11 also get the oversight
that they need.

In looking at the issue of the amount of long term health mon-
itoring and the information and the testimony that has been pro-
vided to us, some of the money has been released, some of the
money has not yet been released. But we have already on the Fed-
eral Government allocated and some spent, $122 million for assess-
ment and for registry and for screening. That is not a small
amount. And the request that we get today is that amount be ex-
tended in 20 year programs and then looking at what that amount
will be.

My questions are twofold. One, as I acknowledged in my com-
ments, you know mine was a community that responded to the call
from New York City to send EMS and firefighters as part of the
recovery effort that is here. So my first question is to what extent
does the fire registry program, the New York City Department of
Health and Mental Hygiene and Mount Sinai’s efforts go beyond
just the individuals that currently are in the area, but those that
were impacted that came in?

And second, I would really like some discussion specifically be-
tween Mr. Freiden and Dr. Herbert and Mr. McArdle concerning
the coordination of these programs. Because you know when you
get to $122 million and you are just beginning to scratch the sur-
face and you are each talking about 20 year programs and the an-
nual amounts to maintain them, to what extent are your processes
being coordinated?

Let me start with Dr. Herbert?
Dr. HERBERT. Well, actually because Dr. Levin and I are co-direc-

tors, we agreed that I would give testimony and he would respond
to questions, if that is OK.

Dr. LEVIN. She left the tough job to me.
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Well, No. 1, we have worked very well with the fire department’s
medical group and have compared notes and findings and ap-
proaches to the monitoring and evaluation of our respective groups,
really from the beginning. And what was so striking to us early on
was how similar the findings among the firefighters were to what
we were seeing among the other rescue and recovery workers.

In going forward, are very likely to be able to work out common
screening protocols so that we may even at some point be able to
share data in a common data base. And this will be important, I
think, to understand better what the clinical consequences were
and what are the best approaches to treatment.

So far as the other question, the national scope of our program,
were mandated by NIOSH, when we received a contract to estab-
lish a consortium of institutions to provide these screening exami-
nations, to cover all of those people nationwide who had come to
New York and then returned to their home cities to do rescue and
recovery work here at Ground Zero. And we are doing this through
the coordination of the Association of Occupational and Environ-
mental Clinics, a network of public health oriented clinics through-
out the country. They are going to have provided, by the end of this
program, some 1,000 examinations at cities located geographically
pretty well-distributed across the country.

And, in fact, in Ohio I just spoke with the director of the pro-
gram at University of Cincinnati who is seeing some of the people
in Ohio.

It is not enough. There are people, we are afraid, who will not
be covered. For example, the Federal employees who were paid
with Federal dollars to do their rescue and recovery work are not
covered by our program. State employees are not either. Unfortu-
nately, unlike the State employees here in New York, there is still
no program for Federal employees who came to Ground Zero. There
is no screening program, no monitoring program going forward. I
think, again, if we’re talking about public health across the States,
this is clearly another public health mistake.

Mr. SHAYS. Let me just say, I want to give 10 minutes to each
Member. We are going to end up using it anyway. So add three.

Dr. FRIEDEN. In terms of the extent of the registry, anyone who
meets the eligibility criteria can enroll. We have already had en-
rollees from dozens of States, including several dozen individuals
from Ohio. And so it is available for any who were in the groups
that were most exposed to enroll.

In addition, the results of the registry will be relevant not only
for those who participated and not only for those who meet the cri-
teria for enrollment, but also for others who had lesser levels of ex-
posure. It will allow us to generalize. It is the only evaluation that
can put into context the clinical findings and give us the overall
picture.

In terms of coordination, I think there’s excellent coordination.
We are on the advisory committee of the Sinai group, they are on
our advisory committee. We coordinate frequently. We consult each
other when issues arise. And we are looking at different pieces of
the puzzles, which will give us the most comprehensive overview
of the impact, the groups at highest risks, the conditions that are
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most problematic, and/or what the treatments that are most effec-
tive for those who have been impacted the most.

Mr. TURNER. Mr. McArdle.
Mr. MCARDLE. I think that the points that I want to make is

that we do have some coordination, but not complete coordination.
I believe that we communicate regularly with the people at Mount
Sinai. We communication, our labor union communicates with our
medical office. And I believe that in the end what will actually hap-
pen is that the data that is collected by the New York City Fire
Department will be the very best data available on what happened.
And this is the reason why.

Our people from the day they start employment in the New York
City Fire Department get a medical annually because of hazardous
materials regulations. And because of that, we have data knowing
what everybody’s medical condition was pre-September 11. And
this is why it is so important not to hold back on the money from
the FDNY.

Our money was sole sourced. And we believe that what is hap-
pening in this battle for the rest of the money, you are neglecting
a very important portion of the information that is going to of value
to the entire Nation down the road. It is imperative that our fire
department get the $25 million right away. And there is a lot of
government haggling about the money. And we absolutely need
that to stop.

Mr. TURNER. Dr. Weiden, the issue on coordination?
Dr. WEIDEN. I think that because of the organization of our occu-

pational health facility, we will be leading indicators. And we are
dedicated both to collecting the information, disseminating the in-
formation in an academic channel. We have now published, I think,
four articles which I think were the first. I think that we will con-
tinue to find things, publish them, get them out there and be a
light for everybody else.

So I would urge that you support us as a separate entity and
then we will then disseminate the information.

Mr. TURNER. Mr. Willis on the issue of coordination from the reg-
istries and—no answer?

Mr. GRAHAM. I think we need more research and more coordina-
tion from all departments to find out what medications might work,
what treatments might work. If someone comes up with more ideas
of treatment that might relieve some of the problems that we all
are experiencing, if that should come down and people could join
together and find out. We need research. We need somebody to find
out.

Right now my medication just keeps me at this point. I am not
tremendously getting better, I am not getting tremendously worse.
I need to find something that would cure, relief, something.

Thank you.
Mr. TURNER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
At this time the Chair would recognize Mr. Towns.
Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Let me begin by first commending on the outstanding work that

you are doing here at Mount Sinai. I notice that was one thing that
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everybody sort of agreed on at the table, and I would also like to
associate myself with those remarks.

Let me ask, and Dr. Herbert, you have indicated that the ques-
tions should go to Dr. Levin, right?

Dr. HERBERT. That is right.
Mr. TOWNS. OK. Dr. Levin, as the medical director of Mount

Sinai, said the earlier WTC related illnesses are detected and treat-
ed, the more likely the treatment will prevent long term illness and
disability. Given this, it makes sense to me to expand the list of
people who should be included in screenings to make sure that
every one adversely affected is checked. Maybe you pay a little
more up front to detect problems, but you save money and people’s
lives in the long run. Do you agree with the logic?

Dr. LEVIN. Yes, I certainly do. And I think that has been our ap-
proach from the very start.

We saw people being taken off that pile within the first couple
of days, gasping for breath, choking, and could predict at that time
that there would be a great deal of potential longer-term effects
with respiratory problems—upper respiratory problems and lower
respiratory problems.

But in our clinical center, our Center for Occupational and Envi-
ronmental Medicine, before our screening program began we were
seeing community residents. We were seeing people who had re-
turned to office space down in lower Manhattan for whom this
screening program is not intended. Those people suffered res-
piratory illnesses as well. Do I think the Federal Government
should have developed a program to evaluate those people who
came back to work in the area, who came back to occupy residen-
tial space, the school children who came to school so early? Yes, I
do. I think from a public health perspective that would have been
the correct thing to do. I still think it is worth doing.

Mr. TOWNS. Right.
Dr. Freiden, how do you feel about that?
Dr. FRIEDEN. Certainly early detection and effective treatment of

conditions related to WTC is something that can minimize future
impact.

Mr. TOWNS. Right. Well, let me say this: On August 26, 2002 fol-
lowing the Newsday article ‘‘Winds of 9/11: No Scrutiny For Brook-
lyn For Attacks, Toxic Smoke Drifted.’’ I wrote to you expressing
my concerns about leaving Brooklyn residents who may have been
exposed to WTC toxins out of the World Trade registry. Given the
additional research performed which shows that the intense heat
of Ground Zero blew the pollutants upwards creating a loft effect
causing these pollutants to blow toward Brooklyn and dropped on
my constituents, do you think that it might be worth reconsidering
now whether Brooklyn residents should be eligible for the registry?

Dr. FRIEDEN. Let me clarify several things.
First, the services available for evaluation, medical evaluation

and treatment are not related to participation or to eligibility for
participation in the registry.

So whether or not someone is eligible to participate in the reg-
istry and whether or not they do actually participate in the registry
has no bearing on the services available to them. The same services
will be or will not be available to them in either case.
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As it is, there are in our estimate close to 400,000 people who
would be eligible for participation in the registry. Given that, our
focus is on those most heavily exposed so that we have the best
possible chance of documenting what the health impacts were and
the extent of those impacts.

There is no harm to opening the registry up for more people who
would want to participate, however it is not currently funded for
a broader group of individuals who are not among those who are
among the most intensely exposed. If resources were available, we
would not in any way be opposed to allowing people from Brooklyn
or, for example, from between Canal and Chambers which is also
not in the eligibility now of the registry to participate. They’re un-
doubtedly exposed. We are not saying that they are not exposed.
What we are saying is that given the extent of the exposure, the
heaviest exposed groups are those that are currently eligible for en-
rollment. If resources were to allow, we would have no objection to
having additional people eligible enroll.

Mr. TOWNS. And when you say additional resources, what are
you really talking about?

Dr. FRIEDEN. It costs, to be frank about it, about $100 per person
who enrolls in the registry. We are currently funded to allow the
enrollment of as many as people as are eligible from within that
most heavily exposed group. This, from a scientific perspective, we
do feel will allow us to make conclusions about all of the groups,
not just those who are most heavily exposed, not just people who
are participating, but also others including those from Brooklyn.

And I would also comment that many people from Brooklyn do
fall within an exposure category and are eligible for participation.
We already have thousands, I think more than 1,000 of Brooklyn
residents who are part of the registry, as we also have thousands
of people who are from the unions who are part of the registry. We
have had a very good response, and we continue to encourage peo-
ple to participate so that we have the best possible chance of docu-
menting and evaluating the population-based long term health im-
pacts.

Mr. TOWNS. I think the reason I’m raising this question, as you
know, the Newsday article indicated that from the photo you actu-
ally could see this cloud up in the sky and it was dropping over
Brooklyn.

So it seems to me we should have a great interest in trying to
find out more about that, being we are trying to get as much
knowledge as we possibly can. And it has been indicated by Mount
Sinai that early detection makes a lot of sense. So it seem to me
that we would want to devote some of our resources and energy
into trying to make certain that we find out this information as
soon as we possibly can in order to prevent long term disability and
all kinds of other things that might occur if we do not do this.

Dr. FRIEDEN. Based on the best data available, atmospheric data,
analyses of the plume, analyses of exposure, we feel that the cur-
rent exposure groups for the registry do represent those individuals
most heavily exposed to and most at risk for potential health ef-
fects of September 11.

Mr. TOWNS. Right. Well, you know I just want to make certain
that we do not leave Brooklyn out.
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Let me just sort of move on to coordination point.
Running down the table, can you think of anything that needs

to be done that might assist in the coordination? Because I think
that coordination is very, very important because we are not talk-
ing unlimited resources.

Yes?
Dr. LEVIN. Well, I will comment on that. Yes, I think the coordi-

nation should have been in place from the very start of this terrible
event, and going forward, should there be another disaster, wheth-
er it is a terrorist attack or some other natural disaster, we need
certain things in place. And that includes, for example, an inde-
pendent, already identified panel of experts, environmental health
experts, who could be convened rapidly to assess the hazards and
the likely health consequences and clinical effects of these expo-
sures.

When I say ‘‘independent,’’ I mean independent of political and
economic considerations. Not that they will not come into play at
some point, but in the deliberations of that expert panel, they
should not be influenced by politics and by money considerations
as they consider the issues of health consequences and the deci-
sions made to protect people’s health.

In such an event you need a rapid comprehensive registration of
everybody who is down there. And as much as it was the wild west,
surely we could have done better in trying to capture who was
down at that site. And that may occur in the future, the necessity
to try to register people quickly.

You need the rapid distribution of respirators. You need the
rapid training of people to wear respirators. A number of people
here have talked about that issue; how late it was in getting ade-
quate respiratory protection to people who really needed it.

You need the rapid establishment of health evaluation and treat-
ment capability, including a fast-track mechanism of funding from
the Federal Government to institutions that can provide this kind
of an evaluation, so that we will not be in the position again of
waiting 8, 10 months, a year before people get their first evaluation
after they have been ill now for at least that period time.

Yes, we need coordination. The coordination has to be imme-
diately in response to the event, and then all those institutions and
agencies that are involved in trying to provide a public health re-
sponse have to be working together under some coordinating unit.

Mr. TOWNS. Right.
Any other comments on coordination? Because I think that is

very, very important.
Yes, Mr. Willis.
Mr. WILLIS. Actually, Congressman Towns, at that time at that

day I lived in Brooklyn. On the morning of September 12th my wife
and daughter woke up to think that there was a fire in the house.
What they were smelling was a cloud coming down from Ground
Zero. At that time we lived by the foot of the Verrazano Bridge,
which is down in Bay Ridge—10 miles away. And they thought
there was a fire in our house.

And in terms of coordination, I think that Federal agencies sim-
ply need to recognize that there is an issue here and they have to
wake up and give help now.
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Mr. TOWNS. Thank you.
Doctor.
Dr. WEIDEN. So, I am an academic. And on the academic model

one of the ways of assuring coordination and transparency is a se-
ries of annual meetings with all of the stakeholders participating
where the current results are presented in public. And I think that
would go very far to ensuring the various constituencies here that
everything that can be done is being done; that the money is well
spent and disseminate the information beyond the specialized cen-
ters to the board constituencies with regard to care.

Mr. TOWNS. Right. And, Mr. Chairman, I have enough for Mr.
McArdle’s answer?

Mr. SHAYS. Yes.
Mr. TOWNS. Yes, sir?
Mr. MCARDLE. Just a few issues. As far as coordination goes, I

think that one of the important things is to make sure that when
we have these types of events, that there is compliance with Fed-
eral safety regulations. Clearly, they were not followed on Septem-
ber 11. I know a lot of the rules went out the window. But labor
organizations, who are a good part of the early operations, were ba-
sically ignored. And some of their concerns about their members’
health was ignored. And now we are paying the consequences for
that right now.

And I think the strict safety discipline at these events in the fu-
ture is also very important and going to prevent long term expo-
sure issues and long term medical problems.

Dr. FRIEDEN. I would just like to say very briefly that at the city
health department, we have a total commitment to openness and
transparency. We are clear about what we know, what we do not
know, what studies we have done, what they have found.

I think at the general level, Federal, State, local there are many
very controversial issues, particularly environmental issues are
controversial.

In regard to environmental issues, there is a great deal of sus-
picion, there is a great lack of knowledge. And it would serve the
public best if there were a combination of complete openness and,
as was called for before, a kind of independent, impeccable re-
spected, scientifically-valid group to look at what we know already,
what we do not know already and determine what more we might
need to know. Because there have actually been an enormous num-
ber of studies done, some of them done superbly by groups here at
this panel, some of them by others. There is, in fact, an enormous
amount of environmental data available.

And so I think it is important that we have the mechanism to
look at that openly, transparently, hearing from everyone and
being clear about what we know, what we do not, and what more
we need to know.

Mr. TOWNS. All right. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
Mr. Owens, Major Owens, you have the floor.
Mr. OWENS. Let me begin with one narrow question to followup

on my colleague Mr. Towns’ question. We are both concerned about
the fact that residents of Cobble Hill, Brooklyn Heights and Park
Slope who, incidentally, lost a number of lives in the World Trade
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Center think they have been abandoned, deserted in terms of con-
cerns about the pollution impact there.

In your determination of the areas that you would focus on, were
there any criteria other than budgetary ones that determined how
broad, how wide your scope would be, how big your area would be?

Dr. FRIEDEN. Let me reiterate that there is no less attention to
those who were exposed in any area. The World Trade Center
Health Registry does not enable people to get more health services,
nor does it restrict health services from any other groups. It is an
attempt to systematically document health impacts, so that we can
generalize about the people who were exposed and identify what
syndromes are associated with exposure to WTC.

Many residents from Brooklyn have already enrolled. We hope
that many more enroll.

In determining which were the most heavily exposed groups, we
did not look at budgetary issues at all. We looked at what the expo-
sures were, and the exposures related to residents, they related to
presence, they related obviously to rescue and recovery operations
both in WTC and at the Fresh Kills landfill where there was expo-
sure directly to the potentially toxic materials that were involved
in the WTC. Residents in lower Manhattan are all included.

Mr. OWENS. What’s the geographical, you know, if they are in
proximity to the site? Nobody went out and took any measurements
in Brooklyn——

Dr. FRIEDEN. No. Actually extensive—right.
Mr. OWENS [continuing]. To find out much debris had dropped

there.
Dr. FRIEDEN. Extensive analysis of the plume was done. And in

no way are we saying there was not exposure in Brooklyn. How-
ever, all of the evidence that we have reviewed does indicate that
the exposure, that the plume, fell most heavily in lower Manhat-
tan.

Mr. OWENS. Thank you.
I see that a representative of the National Institute for Occupa-

tional Safety and Health was scheduled at one point to testify here.
Mr. SHAYS. Panel two.
Mr. OWENS. Panel two. Well, I will save this for panel two then.
Well, I will ask you. Anyone of you, what kind of role have you

seen OSHA play in this drama from beginning to end? Would you
like to make any significant comments as to the role of OSHA?
Yes?

Mr. GRAHAM. OSHA was there very early on. They were there to
help myself and many other workers there. It was a touch job they
were put into. There is no real regulations that state what do you
do when a 110-story building collapses, how do you handle it.

Extremely enforceful. They mandated that anyone on the job site
not complying was removed. My administration complied to that.

A lot of due diligence on OSHA’s part. They were there 24 hours
a day, 7 days a week to do the best job they could.

Mr. OWENS. What has been your experience at Mount Sinai with
OSHA? Any significant?

Dr. LEVIN. Well, we have many colleagues and friends who were
on the ground, so to speak, working with OSHA trying to deter-
mine levels of exposure, trying to ensure respiratory protection.
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There was clear arena of debate, and that is that OSHA was not
in enforcement mode. They were in a consultative mode. There was
a partnership between the contractors and the unions to enforce
safety regulations on the job. And if you look at the actual accident
rates and the fact that not one fatality occurred on that site, clearly
the accident rates were half of what would have been expected on
a comparable demolition or constructionsite with that many person
hours worked.

Nevertheless, the fact that OSHA was not in enforcement mode
did mean that some of those workers out there on the pile were not
wearing adequate respiratory protection and there was not full en-
forcement requiring that they do so. And there was a price that
was paid in the health consequences for people who were there.

I do not fault those hard-working OSHA people that we have
worked with for so long for their efforts, because they tried very
hard to do the right thing. The policy question of whether that was
the right way to go, I think is a remaining subject for debate and
discussion.

Mr. OWENS. Are you getting cooperation from them now that is
compensatory to what they had to do then?

Dr. LEVIN. In our screening program we have worked most close-
ly with NIOSH, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and
Health, which is sort of the research arm under the CDC. And we
have worked very well with our colleagues at NIOSH. Our only
complaint is we would like to see this funding coming through for
long term medical monitoring fast enough so that we will not be
stuck in a situation where there is a gap between the current
screening program and the future longer term monitoring. But in
the development of the medical protocol, in how to think about
these issues, we have worked very well with NIOSH and found the
experience with them to be very helpful.

Mr. OWENS. My final question is a little broader. The Federal
Government is to be congratulated, the administration and both
parties, for the steps it took to deal with the casualties, the victims
at the World Trade Center, the way the insurance and the com-
pensation has been handled I think is outstanding. You know, I
voted for it so I take some credit. But it was unprecedented.

Is it not possible to deal with workers on the site and their prob-
lems in the same kind of way? Under one umbrella make some de-
cisions about who is to be compensated for what and what kind of
care, who it is entitled to and for how long, and what kind of dam-
ages people are due compensation for? Is that undoable?

We are dealing with a finite number of people. I am not talking
about residents. I am talking about workers who were there on the
site, most of them who can prove they were onsite. Is it not pos-
sible to look at some kind of bigger more comprehensive program
which would deal with all these problems and not have to nickel
and dime it and then beg your way through philanthropy and agen-
cy generosity here and there?

Dr. LEVIN. Well, if you are asking us at Mount Sinai that ques-
tion?

Mr. OWENS. I am asking everybody who might want to comment,
yes.
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Dr. LEVIN. Well, we certainly feel it ought to be possible. Because
the actual experience of people who responded down there, whether
they were workers or volunteers, has been absolutely awful.

I mean, you heard from people today what it is like trying to get
through this broken workers compensation system. The system was
broken not just after September 11. It was broken before. It is
quite stark now that you have people who did so much down there
to help others who——

Mr. OWENS. Yes. But there was no system for the insurance, the
payment of people who lost their relatives there. We created a sys-
tem afterwards.

Dr. LEVIN. Yes, you are right.
Mr. OWENS. And that is what I am talking about. Can we not

create a system which then would become a model for the future
in terms of situations like this instead of trying to put together
with rubber bands and gum?

Dr. LEVIN. I certainly think that such a system could be devel-
oped. I think the experience that we at Mount Sinai, and others,
who have provided care to such workers and volunteers could help
develop such a system. And it would be rational and it would put
in place a mechanism for getting people treatment, for their studies
that they absolutely need, without their having to go through the
nightmare of trying to get some workers comp insurance company
to say yes to this after a year and a half has passed and still noth-
ing has been done. Yes, we could develop a system.

Mr. OWENS. Thank you for putting that on the record.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Owens.
Mr. Nadler.
Mr. NADLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
First, just to followup on the workers comp for a moment. Com-

missioner Freiden, you have heard here that the MTA, which is a
State agency, has controverted and disputed every workers comp
case arising out of the World Trade Center catastrophe. Has the
city administration done anything to speak to the Governor the
State or the MTA about this disgraceful practice?

Dr. FRIEDEN. I am not familiar with that, but we could certainly
find out about it and get information back.

Mr. NADLER. I mean, in other words all these employees of gov-
ernment agencies, every single case the MTA says, the government
says you may be a hero in September 11 but you are a malingerer,
you are a liar, you are a phony false claimer. Every single case. I
find that disgraceful. I find it disgraceful for the State government.
I find it, frankly, disgraceful that the city government has not done
anything about it. No. 1.

No. 2, Mr. McArdle, Mr. Willis, Mr. Graham, Mr. Rapp, when
you were working on the pile were you wearing respirators?

Mr. MCARDLE. I was, yes.
Mr. NADLER. The entire time?
Mr. MCARDLE. Yes.
Mr. NADLER. And you still have all these health effects?
Mr. MCARDLE. I am not one of the people who is impacted by it.
Mr. NADLER. OK. Mr. Willis?
Mr. WILLIS. No, I had a paper mask.
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Mr. NADLER. I’m sorry?
Mr. WILLIS. I had a paper mask.
Mr. NADLER. Not a respirator?
Mr. WILLIS. No.
Mr. NADLER. Were you offered a respirator?
Mr. WILLIS. I’m sorry?
Mr. NADLER. Were you offered a respirator?
Mr. WILLIS. No. None were available.
Mr. NADLER. None were available? Did you ask for one?
Mr. WILLIS. No.
Mr. NADLER. But you were made aware that none was available?
Mr. WILLIS. Yes. There was no one around me at that time in

the first, you know, in the first few days that I saw where we were
working who had them.

Mr. NADLER. And then was just the first few days.
Mr. WILLIS. Right.
Mr. NADLER. What about after the first few days?
Mr. WILLIS. After that, you know, some of our people in transit

who were respirator qualified——
Mr. NADLER. Were respirator qualified?
Mr. WILLIS. Right. You have to be qualified for a fit?
Mr. NADLER. You mean physically qualified?
Mr. WILLIS. Right. Yes. Yes. For instance, with a beard, you are

not.
Mr. NADLER. And if you were not qualified, they did not tell you

to shave off your beard, they said go work there without the res-
pirator?

Mr. WILLIS. That question did not even come up. We were or-
dered there, and a lot of us actually volunteered. I, for instance,
volunteered.

Mr. NADLER. But respirators were or were not available after the
first few days?

Mr. WILLIS. No. No, no, no, no. They were not—first of all transit
does not even have that quantity of respirators to cover the thou-
sands of hard hats that they had there.

Mr. NADLER. So people in transit worked for weeks on the pile
without respirators and no one made any attempts to get them res-
pirators.

Mr. WILLIS. I mean, we had bus operators. For instance, the fire-
men for the most part were brought down to the site from Canal
Street by our bus operators back and forth. I am aware of bus oper-
ators who will never work again because they had no respirators.

Mr. NADLER. OK.
Mr. Graham.
Mr. GRAHAM. During the initial collapse I did not have a res-

pirator. Following that my trips down there were, I did have a res-
pirator and I did do—personally give my membership a tremendous
amount of—we spent a tremendous amount of money, my member-
ship, on respirators and fit testing.

Mr. NADLER. The union bought the respirators?
Mr. GRAHAM. Yes, they did.
Mr. NADLER. Not the State or city government, or the Federal

Government?

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00094 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



91

Mr. GRAHAM. I am trying to give you the exact date. The 12th
or 13th, those days are a little blurry to me, sir, but that week my
particular union bought thousands of dollars in respirators.

Mr. NADLER. In respirators.
Mr. GRAHAM. And we bought fit testing and we brought it to the

site. And we got our membership and we started fit testing our
membership.

Mr. NADLER. And you saw the necessity of doing that right
away?

Mr. GRAHAM. Yes. I felt it.
Mr. NADLER. OK.
Mr. GRAHAM. In my chest.
Mr. NADLER. Mr. Rapp.
Mr. RAPP. Yes. Me also. I had a respirator from November to

March when I was working.
Mr. NADLER. From November? What about September to Novem-

ber?
Mr. RAPP. No. I wasn’t there. I volunteered. I did not have the

respirator.
Mr. NADLER. So you used the respirator the entire time?
Mr. RAPP. Well, it was hard to communicate with your other

workers——
Mr. NADLER. So you used it part of the time?
Mr. RAPP. Yes.
Mr. NADLER. Part of the time?
Mr. GRAHAM. Mr. Nadler.
Mr. NADLER. Yes.
Mr. GRAHAM. Just one other thing. I would love for the congres-

sional hearing to try to work, even sitting at a desk, for a 12 hour
day with this respirator on.

Mr. NADLER. With a respirator on? I understand.
Mr. GRAHAM. Not walking up and down and not digging in a pit,

but just sitting for 12 hours, even 2 hours. Just try it and see what
it is like.

Mr. NADLER. Yes.
Now, Mr. McArdle, in your testimony you say that many fire-

fighters were not given the proper respiratory protection devices
even though complaints about this issue have been made for years,
the department did not and still does not have a respiratory protec-
tion program as required by Federal regulations for air purifying
respirators for well over 10 years. This is in violation of CFR
1910.134. To your knowledge they still do not have those res-
pirators?

Mr. MCARDLE. Yes. And I would just like to make a clarification
also, Mr. Nadler. When you asked the question about respiratory
protection, I had respiratory protection when I initially got down
there, which was self contained breathing apparatus, not a full
faced APR. Once the air supply ran out, that was it.

When I say that the department did not have respiratory protec-
tion, they did not have full faced air purifying respirators——

Mr. NADLER. They did not have the adequate proper protection?
Mr. MCARDLE. Right.
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Mr. NADLER. Mr. Weiden, does the department not have the
proper protection that is required by law or does it? And if it does
not, what are you doing to change that?

Dr. WEIDEN. I do not know what the law is. I am a clinic physical
taking care——

Mr. NADLER. OK. I’m sorry, do no answer that. I thought you
were more higher up in the department or differently, laterally in
the department.

Dr. FRIEDEN. He is higher up.
Mr. NADLER. That is why I said laterally. That is why I said lat-

erally in the department.
Dr. WEIDEN. But let me answer it to the extent that I can.
Mr. NADLER. Yes.
Dr. WEIDEN. The police department has issued terrorism bags,

which include a respirator to all of its membership. There is no
such equivalent, currently sanctioned equipment that either goes
with the member or on any of the apparatus——

Mr. NADLER. For the fire department.
Dr. WEIDEN. For the fire department. The only respirator that is

currently being used is the full face self contained breathing appa-
ratus.

Mr. NADLER. So in other words, it is fair to say that it differs by
department and for volunteers and people from other departments,
a lot of people did not have respirators and some did.

Let me ask the following question: Dr. Freiden, you state in your
testimony and you spoke about it in response to earlier questions,
that you concentrate in the registry and where people were most
heavily exposed, that is to say below Canal Street. What scientific
data do you have that Canal Street is the boundary for heavy expo-
sure; that there is any difference between one block south of Canal
Street or one block north of Canal Street, or for that matter in
Brooklyn or on the other side of the Hudson River, New Jersey? Is
there any scientific basis for the boundary for—well, in fact what
you did was simply copy the boundary that the EPA made for their
so called clean up program. Is there any scientific basis for this
boundary?

Dr. FRIEDEN. Well, first of all, I would like to clarify that it is
not solely geographic. There are different groups that are
eligible——

Mr. NADLER. No, no. But residents——
Dr. FRIEDEN. Individuals who are eligible to participate include

those who worked in rescue or recovery, those who went to school
or taught in schools—in lower Manhattan. Those who lived or
worked there.

Mr. NADLER. All right. People who lived or worked there. Just
please answer the question, I have more questions.

Part of this is geographically limited. What is the scientific basis
for the geographic limit?

Dr. FRIEDEN. There is a question if a decreasing level of expo-
sure. At——

Mr. NADLER. Well, my question is how do you know given the
fact that you haven’t done—nobody has done what the IG rec-
ommended, namely concentric circle testing going out in concentric
circles from the World Trade Center, how do you know that in fact
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there is a decreasing exposure as you get further away and how do
you know where it is appropriate to place a boundary? What is the
scientific basis for that?

Dr. FRIEDEN. We are making the best judgments, given the avail-
able data, of what the highest level of exposure is. We are not say-
ing that those who are a block away from that are not exposed. We
are saying that there is a gradient of exposure based on the best
available data.

Mr. NADLER. Could you furnish us that data? Because everything
that I know says that there is wholly inadequate data. Every testi-
mony that we have had at other hearings says that there’s wholly
inadequate.

Well, let me ask Dr. Levin. Do you believe there is adequate data
to sustain what the Commissioner just said?

Dr. LEVIN. Well now, we have been advocating all along, really
since early city council hearings, that this approach of going from
Ground Zero in radians in all directions, assessing levels of surface
contamination in interior surfaces, ought to have been done. It is
a straight-forward approach, and still could be done. Because not
all clean up has occurred.

Mr. NADLER. And that is the IG’s recommendation?
Dr. LEVIN. That would be the way to characterize the extent and

perimeter of the contamination that occurred.
Mr. NADLER. But do you believe that the Commissioner is accu-

rate in effect saying that a boundary line at Canal Street, or any
particular street over there, is scientifically based on where the
most heavy exposure is?

Dr. LEVIN. I do not think——
Mr. NADLER. And not just Canal Street, but——
Dr. LEVIN. I do not think he said that. I think he said ‘‘on the

basis of the best available data.’’ He, I think, did not speak to the
question of whether the available data are truly adequate. I do not
think they are adequate to make that determination. I think the
characterization by this sort of approach we just were talking about
really ought to be done, and then he can answer the question.

Mr. NADLER. So it is not scientifically valid to do that unless we
have data that we do not yet have.

Dr. LEVIN. Generally we like to proceed from data.
Mr. NADLER. OK. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. I am going to take the questions now and

just read a part of the briefing paper that we had, and this was
replete with this kind of information.

Various sizes of particular matter floated in the air and
blanketed New York City streets. Fires burned under the debris
until the middle of December 2001. A mixture of plastic, metals
and other chemicals and products burned or decomposed into very
fine particles. The content of the plume varied centimeter by centi-
meter. Some researchers found one molecule that had never been
there before. According to Paul Lioy of the Environmental Occupa-
tional Health Science Institute of the University of Medicine in
New Jersey ‘‘Initial exposures were basically a blackout, people
will, cumulatively, never see in a lifetime. The problem we have
now is we do not know the long term lifetime health consequences.
We just do not know.’’
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Do any of you disagree with that basic description?
Let me say to both you. Commissioner, thank you for staying. I

know you feel a little anxiety because the Council has asked you
to be there, too. We got you first. And thank you for staying.

And Dr. Levin, I think your health registry is hugely important.
And your screening is hugely important. I just want to go on the
record. I am troubled, however, that of the 200,000 potential peo-
ple, that only approximately 12,900 have been enrolled and only
6,000 have completed the 30 minute telephone survey. And I am
puzzled by this.

We have allocated $10 to $20 million for that. I cannot in a life-
time think of how we would spend so much money for that. And
I need you to explain it, and that is why I am happy you stayed.

Dr. FRIEDEN. Thank you very much. And thank you for your sup-
port of the registry. The registry began enrollment only 8 weeks
ago. And so the money was allocated. It was up to the ATSDR, the
Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry, to select a con-
tractor. They went through the contracting process. That took a rel-
atively long time.

Mr. SHAYS. So you have not spent $10 million yet?
Dr. FRIEDEN. Oh, no. No, no.
Mr. SHAYS. OK. It is allocated for it?
Dr. FRIEDEN. That is correct. That is correct.
Mr. SHAYS. OK.
Dr. FRIEDEN. And as of today, we have more than 10,000 people

who have already completed. And so it is really rapidly expanding.
It is not that the money is already spent. The registry just began
enrollment 8 weeks ago.

Mr. SHAYS. If we care about the people who are impacted, the
200,000 who may be, one of the most important things that could
come from this hearing is having people be aware of it. We need
people to register, we need these interviews to take place, we need
this data.

Tell us, Dr. Herbert, your screening is basically the workers who
are working in this facility primarily, correct?

Dr. LEVIN. It includes—the people who are eligible—include
those rescue and recovery workers and volunteers other than New
York City firefighters, State employees and Federal employees. It
also includes people who restored essential services: the telephone
services, the electrical services, water services, etc. It also includes
those people involved in cleaning up the buildings immediately ad-
jacent to Ground Zero. And it includes those workers out at the
Staten Island landfill who did what they did in the effort.

So they are the groups that were included.
Mr. SHAYS. And it is screening, it is diagnoses, it is you are pro-

viding medical assistance as well?
Dr. LEVIN. No. No funds are available for medical treatment.

What we do is identify people who, on the basis of their history,
their physical examination findings, their laboratory findings, have
illness which we feel are related to World Trade Center exposures,
and we have a case management function built into this to make
sure that they get plugged into care. That is the role of the screen-
ing program.
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Identify those who are ill and make sure, whether it is on phys-
ical grounds or psychological grounds, and make sure that they get
put into care. We do not have the resources to provide the care,
other than some moneys from philanthropic sources that enable us
to see a small number for a relatively short period of time. And
that program, which we are grateful is funded, now has a 3 month
waiting list to get in.

Mr. SHAYS. During our Gulf war hearings, of which we had more
than I can even remember the number, we had a pilot who had
ALS. He could hardly move any part of his body. He could only
whisper. His wife and sometimes his father had to tell us what he
said.

The last question we asked him was knowing what you know,
would you still have done what you did. And I think you know the
answer; he said he would do it again. He would do it again.

I suspect that all four of you were less concerned about your
health and more concerned about meeting a very drastic human
need.

Mr. McArdle, you wisely used a respirator. If you had not, do you
think you would be feeling some of the health effects of our other
three witnesses?

Mr. MCARDLE. Yes, absolutely I would be feeling some of the
same effects. I was fortunate enough to have one with me when the
event occurred.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
How many days did you work in Ground Zero?
Mr. MCARDLE. Approximately 10. I got there right after the—I

pulled up on the scene right as the first building collapsed.
Mr. SHAYS. Mr. Willis.
Mr. WILLIS. Would I go back? I had—like I said, I volunteered

to be there, but I had a special reason. I lost two family members
under there. So, yes, of course I would.

Mr. SHAYS. You lost two family members?
Mr. WILLIS. Yes, I did.
Mr. SHAYS. Let me ask you this, how many days were you at the

site?
Mr. WILLIS. Weeks.
Mr. SHAYS. Weeks.
Mr. Graham.
Mr. GRAHAM. Would I go back?
Mr. SHAYS. I do not need to ask you that question.
Mr. GRAHAM. OK.
Mr. SHAYS. I am really asking you how many days in the site?
Mr. GRAHAM. I was there at least 3 days a week throughout the

whole project.
Mr. SHAYS. Right.
Mr. Rapp.
Mr. RAPP. I was there through—for 5 months.
Mr. SHAYS. Five months.
Mr. RAPP. Five whole months.
Mr. SHAYS. Well, thank you for what you gentlemen have done.
Now, there is no question on the part of any panelists that peo-

ple need to be properly diagnosed, they need to be properly treated
and they need to be properly cared for. Some of that may be a Fed-
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eral responsibility, some of it may be a State responsibility, some
of it may be a local responsibility. In any instance, however, it
needs to be a process that is seamless and does not make you sick
just going through the process. And nothing should delay that proc-
ess from happening.

I would like to know as it relates to the long term health effects
exposures, what is the best treatment for those suffering from res-
piratory problems? What is the best treatment? What do we know?

Dr. LEVIN. Well, there is a standard of care for irritant-induced
asthma and sinusitis. It usually involves inhaled steroids, either
nasal steroids or the kind of steroids that asthmatics use. And, of
course, Mr. Graham here talked about his rescue pump. These are
broncho-dilators, things that open the airways when they are shut-
down. And there are a number of other anti-inflammatory medica-
tions that are taken either by inhalation or by mouth that can be
effective.

When sinuses become acutely infected, one is on antibiotics; even
a person who has asthma who develops a bronchitis, winds up on
antibiotics. But the basic standard of care for these conditions is
well established.

Mr. SHAYS. Dr. Freiden, if you need to go, why do you not leave.
Thank you.

I’m sorry.
Dr. LEVIN. There is a well established standard of care which in-

volves the use of these anti-inflammatory medications.
Mr. SHAYS. Is it expensive?
Dr. LEVIN. Is it expensive? Yes.
Mr. SHAYS. Yes.
Dr. LEVIN. Unfortunately, these inhalers are quite expensive.
Mr. SHAYS. No, but the whole process of dealing with someone

with this type of ailment?
Dr. LEVIN. The evaluation expenses?
Mr. SHAYS. The evaluations, the treatment?
Dr. LEVIN. And the treatment is expensive.
Mr. SHAYS. Describe to me what expensive means?
Dr. LEVIN. Well, each one of these inhalers runs between $60 to

$80 for a single unit. A person who has active asthma, you know,
will go through several of these in the course of a month.

Mr. SHAYS. Dr. Herbert, you can answer the questions, too.
Dr. HERBERT. Actually, some of the inhalers are even more. I

mean——
Mr. SHAYS. But I am asking about the whole treatment. Forget

just this little element of it. I want to know are we talking thou-
sands of dollars a month, are we talking thousands of dollars a
year? The total treatment, the total care. I want to grasp some-
thing about the magnitude of the cost.

Yes, Dr. Weiden.
Dr. WEIDEN. So they are involved in screening, I am involvement

in treatment.
Mr. SHAYS. OK.
Dr. HERBERT. We also do treatment——
Dr. WEIDEN. So that their agenda is not treatment of all people

who come to them.
Mr. SHAYS. Yes, sir.
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Dr. WEIDEN. My agenda is treatment of all people who come to
them. And I can just tell you that on average I will treat these pa-
tients for well over a year. I will see them at least once a month
frequently, two or three times a month. I will order testing that
will come up to maybe $2,000 to $5,000 for any individual case.
And I would guess that the respiratory component will cost be-
tween $200 and $400 a month. And in addition with regard to pre-
vention, one of the surprising things that we found is that these
patients also have severe heartburn. And that treating the heart-
burn, which is also quite expensive, then markedly improves the
respiratory symptoms that respiratory patients have. So I think
there is an advantage to having all of this done in one place with
physicians who see a high volume of these patients, and it allows
us to be more efficient.

Mr. SHAYS. Let me ask you, is there anything that any of you
want to want to record?

First, may I just ask, is there any Member that just has a ques-
tion that needs to be put on the record, any Member here? If not,
anything that any of you would like to put on the record before we
go to panel two?

Yes, sir?
Dr. WEIDEN. One of the things that has been obliquely mentioned

but is not really been the focus of the testimony is post-traumatic
stress disorder. I am not an expert in this, but it is my assessment
that a large proportion of the patients who I treat for respiratory
illness have post-traumatic stress disorder. And I believe that as
many permanent disabilities will occur on this basis as on a res-
piratory basis, and it has already occurred within the fire depart-
ment that the number of suicides related to the World Trade Cen-
ter has far exceeded any other cause of mortality after the initial
collapse.

Mr. SHAYS. Anyone else like to put anything on the record?
Yes?
Dr. HERBERT. We, in fact, have treated hundreds of responders.

And one of the concerns I have is that in addition to treating the
respiratory conditions and the mental health conditions, our pa-
tients are a group who have tremendous psycho-social needs be-
cause many of them are disabled. They need social services as well
as physician care. And I would hope that would be thought about
in any plans for treatment.

Mr. SHAYS. Yes?
Mr. NADLER. Dr. Levin, one question. On a long term basis based

on what you have seen of respiratory ailments and all the other
things that you’ve seen, would you expect to see a high incident in
all these people of long latency diseases that come out 15 years
from now, cancers and so forth?

Dr. LEVIN. We do not know, but there are certain groups among
the people that we have screened that we worry about a great deal.
That includes the people who were cleaning those buildings day in
and day out, disturbing settled dust without respiratory protection,
without training. And there were some people who were on that
pile, right where the plumes of smoke were coming out containing
high concentrations of carcinogenic agents, without respiratory pro-
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tection who may, in fact, may be at significantly increased risk for
cancer.

Mr. NADLER. You are talking about the people who were cleaning
buildings afterwards?

Dr. LEVIN. Cleaning buildings after the collapse of those towers,
who were provided with no respiratory protection, no training, who
did this disturbance of settled dust day in and day out and in en-
closed spaces and really may have sustained enough exposure——

Mr. NADLER. Are you talking about the people who were cleaning
in the EPA clean up, or you are not referring to that?

Dr. LEVIN. Not necessarily that specific group. I do not know
their levels of protection.

Mr. NADLER. OK.
Dr. LEVIN. I know that building after building, office buildings

and residential buildings, were cleaned by largely immigrant work-
ers who were provided——

Mr. NADLER. Through private contractors.
Dr. LEVIN. Through private contractors.
Mr. NADLER. That is inside and out?
Dr. LEVIN. Inside and out, and the issue for them may in fact be

one of concern about cancer down the road.
Mr. NADLER. And OSHA, nobody enforced standards or protec-

tion on these workers?
Dr. LEVIN. Not to my knowledge.
Mr. NADLER. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
Any other closing comments from anybody? Yes, Mr. Graham?
Mr. GRAHAM. With your statement before about OSHA, OSHA

did lose their office and they did mobilize quite quickly with no of-
fice, no communications and no equipment. So, I just wanted to put
that in.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
I think, Mrs. Maloney has a comment.
Mrs. MALONEY. A brief question to Mr. Rapp, Mr. Graham and

Mr. Willis, all of whom are suffering from health problems related
to September 11. I would like to know possibly in writing, since our
time may be running out, who is paying your medical bills? How
are you managing financially? Did you apply to the Victims Fund,
the special fund that is managed by Mr. Feinberg? Did they re-
spond to your concerns? And what is the current status of your
workmans compensation plan? Are you having trouble or has that
been resolved?

Mr. SHAYS. Let us do this; we will supply you a letter with those
questions. You will make sure our committee has that. And if you
could respond to it, it would be very helpful.

Do you have a general response in terms of that question that
you would like to respond to before we go?

Mr. GRAHAM. Well, generally my union’s paying. Thank God I am
still working.

Mr. SHAYS. You say your union is paying?
Mr. GRAHAM. My union benefits, my coverage through the union

is paying for that. And——
Mrs. MALONEY. But if you terminate because of health reasons,

there will be no health coverage?
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Mr. GRAHAM. Right. I have to work so many hours to earn my
benefit hours. So if I do not work, there is no benefit. And I have
applied for victim’s compensation. And my workmans comp has
been denied, whatever.

Mr. SHAYS. OK. Denied.
Mrs. MALONEY. Denied? Unbelievable.
Mr. SHAYS. Contested?
Mr. GRAHAM. Contested at least.
Mr. SHAYS. OK. Well, we got our work cut out for us, do we not?
Thank you all very much. You have been a wonderful panel. I

appreciate your patience.
Mr. OWENS. One of the members of the audience, you know her

written testimony, she could not testify.
Mr. SHAYS. Yes. If we could have the name of the individual and

their address and we will submit it into the record. And we will
note for the record who that is.

Mr. OWENS. Ms. Heidi Mount.
Mr. SHAYS. Without objection, that will be submitted into the

record.
[The prepared statment of Ms. Mount follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. We are going to call our next panel. Our next and
our final panel, we appreciate their cooperation.

Our next panel is: Mr. Paul Gilman, Assistant Administrator for
Research and Development, Environmental Protection Agency; Ms.
Diane Porter, Deputy Director, National Institute for Occupational
Safety and Health [NIOSH] accompanied by Dr. Gregory Wagner,
Director of the Division of Respiratory Disease Studies, National
Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. And our third wit-
ness is Ms. Pat Clark, area office director for New York, New York
Occupational Safety and Health Administration also accompanied
by David Williamson with Ms. Porter is Dr. David Williamson,
Ph.D, Agency for Toxic Substances Disease Registry.

If our witnesses will stand up, please, and we will swear you in.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. SHAYS. And I thank others for standing in case we needed

to go on your expertise. That is very thoughtful.
I am going to say again thank you for being the second panel.

Thank you for listening to the first panel.
We know what our task is, and we are going to get to it. We are

going to start first with Ms. Porter. We will go to Dr. Gilman and
then we will go to Ms. Clark. And that will be the order of it.

Ms. Porter, thank you.

STATEMENTS OF DR. PAUL GILMAN, ASSISTANT ADMINIS-
TRATOR FOR RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, ENVIRON-
MENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY; DIANE PORTER, DEPUTY DI-
RECTOR, NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR OCCUPATIONAL SAFE-
TY AND HEALTH [NIOSH], ACCOMPANIED BY DR. GREGORY
WAGNER, DIRECTOR OF THE DIVISION OF RESPIRATORY
DISEASE STUDIES, NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR OCCUPA-
TIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH; PAT CLARK, AREA OFFICE DI-
RECTOR FOR NEW YORK, NEW YORK OCCUPATIONAL SAFE-
TY AND HEALTH ADMINISTRATION, ACCOMPANIED BY DR.
DAVID WILLIAMSON, PH.D, AGENCY FOR TOXIC SUBSTANCES
DISEASE REGISTRY

Ms. PORTER. Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Representative
Maloney and members of the committee. My name is Diane Porter
and I am the Deputy Director for National Institute for Occupa-
tional Safety and Health, a part of the Centers for Disease Control
within the Department of Health and Human Services.

Accompanying me here today are Dr. Gregory Wagner, a physi-
cian and the Director of the NIOSH’s Division of Respiratory Dis-
ease Studies and Dr. David Williamson, the Director of the Divi-
sion of Health Studies with CDC’s agency for Toxic Substances and
Disease Registry.

Thank you for this opportunity to appear today to provide testi-
mony on behalf of CDC and ATSDR regarding our ongoing efforts
to address the health impacts of the World Trade Center disaster
on the rescue, recovery and response workers and on the nearby
community members who were so directly effected by the events
that day.

As you know, CDC provided extensive emergency assistance to
workers and residents near Ground Zero in the immediate after-
math of the September 11th attacks. My testimony here today will
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focus on our subsequent activities to address the health effects of
that disaster on the emergency and front line workers who came
to help, and to evaluate the physical and mental health impacts on
the wider community of people living, working and going to school
in the vicinity of the World Trade Center site.

In the interest of time, I will summarize these activities today,
but a more detailed description of our efforts is in the written
statement submitted to the subcommittee.

In the weeks following September 11th, NIOSH was in close con-
tact with the medical staff of the fire department of New York and
with other community based occupational health providers who
began reporting health problems they were finding in workers and
volunteers who had been at the site. An informal network of occu-
pational medicine specialists was established with NIOSH’s assist-
ance.

Mr. SHAYS. Let me just interrupt you a second and say if this
panel, given it’s three, goes over its 5 minutes, you know that is
acceptable. We want you to put on the record what you need to put
on. So do not feel you have to rush.

Ms. PORTER. Thanks.
This informal group, lead by Mount Sinai’s School of Medicine

Center for Occupational and Environmental Medicine discussed
their findings and began to better define the type and severity of
health problems they had seen. And this activity laid the ground
work for the creation of a comprehensive medical screening pro-
gram for these workers.

In November and December 2001, NIOSH was contacted by sev-
eral labor unions and employers representing workers employed in
buildings near the World Trade Center site asking us to look into
their health. In response, NIOSH performed a series of health haz-
ard evaluations that showed elevated rates of upper and lower res-
piratory and gastrointestinal system symptoms as well as symp-
toms of depression and post-traumatic stress disorder in the World
Trade Center area workers compared to similar workers elsewhere.
These symptoms were still present 2 to 6 months after September
11th.

In January 2002, with funds from FEMA, CDC provided $4.8
million to the New York City Fire Department and $2.4 million go
the New York State Department of Health to conduct baseline
medical evaluations for New York City firefighters and State em-
ployees who responded at the World Trade Center site. Shortly
thereafter, also in 2002, Congress gave $12 million to CDC for
baseline medical screening of the other emergency service and
recuse and recovery personnel who responded to the events of Sep-
tember 11th.

CDC awarded the contract to Mount Sinai Center for Occupa-
tional Environmental Medicine to establish this program within
weeks of receiving the funds. Mount Sinai, in consultation with
CDC and other occupational health experts, developed a com-
prehensive screening program which beginning in July 2002 pro-
vided response workers with a baseline medical assessment and as-
sistance with referrals for followup care. A consortium of occupa-
tional health clinics was created to provide these services to re-
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sponse workers and volunteers throughout the New York City area
and in the rest of the country.

As of October 2003, the consortium has screened over 7,000
workers.

In 2003 also, Congress directed that FEMA provide $90 to CDC
for long term medical monitoring of the World Trade Center rescue
and recovery workers and volunteers including $25 million that
was designated to the use for current and retired New York City
firefighters.

In anticipation of receiving these funds, CDC held a public meet-
ing in New York City in May 2003 to gather input regarding the
content and structure of a long term screening program. There was
broad consensus among leading participants that the program
should include: Multiple clinical sites; that the existing short term
screening program was very satisfactory and therefore current pro-
viders should continue to provide services; that quality control
across the centers is important, and; that the content of the pro-
gram should remain flexibility to accommodate evolving needs and
treatment.

There was also agreement that the baseline screening program
should be extended beyond the 9,000 workers who were currently
funded.

Based on this input, CDC supplemented the existing contract
with Mount Sinai within 6 working days of receiving the funds
with $4 million to cover baseline screening examines to approxi-
mately 3,000 additional workers. These examinations will be con-
ducted through March 2004.

The $25 million designated for long term followup for the New
York City Fire Department will be provided to FDNY to conduct
a program in coordination with CDC.

Just as the baseline screening program is completed in March
2004, the remaining dollars will be provided to clinical centers to
implement the long term medical screening program that will pro-
vide workers with a choice of providers. The program will also in-
clude a centralized coordination center to assure quality control
and allow for periodic review of screening.

In addition to our activities to address the health needs of rescue
response and recovery workers, HHS agencies in collaboration with
others are working to identify the health effects of the World Trade
Center disaster on the people who were living, working or going to
school in the vicinity of Ground Zero. Details on these studies are
outlined in my written testimony.

Finally, the subcommittee has expressed specific interest in the
World Trade Center Health Registry which was launched on Sep-
tember 5, 2003 with an extensive outreach campaign. In collabora-
tion with the New York City Department of Health and Mental Hy-
giene and with startup funds provided by FEMA, ATSDR has es-
tablished a registry to identify and track over the long term the
health of tens of thousands of workers and community members
who were mostly directly exposed to smoke, dust and debris from
the World Trade Center site. To date, more than 10,000 people
have been interviewed. It is estimated that the registry will in-
cluded 100,000 to 200,000 individuals including rescue and recov-

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00109 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



106

ery workers, office workers, residents and school children making
it the largest registry of its kind.

The registry will provide a complete picture of the health effects
resulting from the events of September 11th. It also will serve as
a resource for future research studies into the health consequences
of September 11th and a tool for disseminating important health
information to the public and to health care providers so that peo-
ple can make informed decisions about their health care.

In addition, people interviewed also will be provided with refer-
rals to health care providers for health problems they may be cur-
rently experiencing.

The registry will be maintained over time by the city Department
of Health and Mental Hygiene.

In summary, CDC and ATSDR are committed to assessing the
health effects resulting from the September 11, 2001 attacks on the
World Trade Center and identifying the physical and mental health
needs of effected workers, residents and community members.

Thank you for your attention.
I’m please to answer any questions.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Porter follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Ms. Porter.
Dr. Gilman.
Dr. GILMAN. Can I show my slides from the podium?
Mr. SHAYS. Yes, fine. And as we pick you up in the mic, that is

fine.
Dr. GILMAN. OK.
Mr. SHAYS. And we will see it on this TV screen here, I guess.
Dr. GILMAN. Mr. Chairman, first, if I could just go over the ele-

ments of EPA’s response to the events of September 11th.
EPA in its emergency response capability activated its emer-

gency response team within minutes of the attack and sent on sen-
ior coordinators to begin collecting bulk dust and air samples, both
at the site of the World Trade Center and subsequently on the 11th
to areas of New Jersey and Brooklyn as well.

In the days following September 11th we began to establish a
fixed air monitoring system which ultimately consisted of 20 dif-
ferent monitoring stations in addition to the network of monitoring
stations that are in place for activity such as monitoring for partic-
ulate matter under the Clean Air Act.

EPA’s principle mission immediately following the collapse was
to address the safe collection and disposal of large amounts and
quantities of dust and debris. And along with other Federal agen-
cies, my colleagues here today, supplying respirators and protective
gear to workers and truck operators for Ground Zero.

EPA had subsequently been asked by the city to initiate its resi-
dential clean up program, which began in May of last year. And we
continue to perform laboratory health effects research on dust and
other contaminates from the World Trade Center in our effort to
try and better understand the health consequences of that day.

In that regard, let me speak to you about our draft exposure and
human health evaluation which was released in December of last
year. It is currently undergoing peer review and response to that
peer review. And let me start by saying a few things that—I will
start by saying what the report does address and then what it does
not address.

The draft report does focus on outside air. It focuses on the gen-
eral public.

It highlights six particular contaminates that we believe were
most important to assess. It also tries to look at what the human
exposures to the contaminates were. As you know, a contaminate
may have a health effect, but just what kind of health effect it has
depends on how much an individual is exposed to of that. So we
are trying to assess how much individuals were actually exposed to
these contaminates.

We discussed the potential health impact of those contaminates
and utilized the data that was available at that time.

The draft report does not address indoor air except incidentally.
It doesn’t address first responders at Ground Zero. It doesn’t assess
residential or occupational exposures. And it doesn’t predict human
health effects, nor does it purport to examine all the different con-
taminates that were found at the site at the time.

Now, let me generally give you the findings of the report, then
we can talk a little bit of the specifics of the contaminates in ques-
tion.
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First of all, people exposed to extremely high levels of outdoor
pollutants on September 11th at the time of the collapse in the vi-
cinity of the World Trade Center are at risk for both acute and po-
tentially long term or chronic respiratory and other types of health
impacts.

We found that the information available on September 11th and
in the days following did not really allow us to well characterize
this particular period of exposure and the potential health effects.
Except for exposures on September 11th and possibly during the
next few days, we did find that the people in the surrounding com-
munity were unlikely to have been exposed to contaminates in a
way that would result in either short term or long term adverse
health effects.

Now, the status of the report is, that is currently draft. It is
going through revisions and we hope to have it finalized in the
spring of 2004.

The contaminates we looked at included particulate matter, as-
bestos, dioxins and PCBs, metals and volatile organic compounds.

For the particulate matter, in the several days after the attack
monitors were showing high levels of particulate matter that did
exceed the EPA’s 24 hour air quality index, but by mid-October
those levels had receded to ones historically seen in the city.

For asbestos, there were reactively few outside air measurements
of asbestos that exceeded EPS or OSHA standards.

And I should comment that for all of these substances we are
hampered to some degree by the fact that we had not in the past
expected to have to look at short term exposures. So the bench-
marks we are utilizing in doing this analysis are borrowed from the
occupational agencies and other circumstances. EPA has tradition-
ally focused on longer term chronic exposures.

So for asbestos, the air measurements taken. There were a few
exceedences of EPA and OSHA standards. High levels of asbestos
were found in dust in two apartments sampled on the 18th and in
the grab samples that were done in the area of the World Trade
Center.

The report also does discuss the ATSDR study that was done on
apartments beginning in the November timeframe.

Dioxins and PCBs, there were high measurements in the first
month after September 11th, in particular in and around the World
Trade Center Ground Zero site. Exposures by inhalation of dioxins
in particular were not at a level that should cause either acute con-
cerns or long term concerns. The major path for dioxins of concern
is really through ingestion, through food exposures.

For metals, there were some exceedences of EPA benchmarks for
lead in the first month, but the way the lead standard is set is it
is for exceedences that extend over a 90 day period, and we did not
see anything like that for the lead at the site or in the areas sur-
rounding the site.

And last, for volatile organic compounds, we did see elevations
principally of benzene over the month following the Trade Center,
but none of those exceeding benchmark standards.

Now let me speak for a moment to our efforts at trying to recon-
struct the exposures that people have seen. What I have here on
this screen is actually a graphic of reconstruction of the plume for
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the first days following the collapse of the World Trade Center. It
is animated, and as you can see through time the wind direction
did shift.

This is the standard sort of a tool we have available to us today.
It is based on meteorological information that comes to us from
sites like LaGuardia Airport or Kennedy Airport. And currently the
Department of Energy and NOAA are engaged in putting place sys-
tems in a number of cities around the country that are much fine
scaled, if you will. Where the meteorological information that is col-
lected is much better represented for the areas in question.

EPA is currently engaged in collaborating with them, and what
we are actually trying to do is apply some tools we had begun to
develop in midtown New York. We are trying to better understand
how people living in a urban setting are exposed to normal pollut-
ants.

What we have done with what is a computer model, a numerical
model, is now transfer that work to the lower end of Manhattan
and try and computationally understand how the particles and
emissions flowed in the area in and around the World Trade Cen-
ter. And so this is a visualization now of that kind of modeling.

The field that is moving through shows you the different direc-
tions and volicities of the wind, the different points along the
southward movement at the World Trade Center.

And we are using this model along with an actual physical scale
model that was done for lower Manhattan at our research facility
in Research Triangle Park to work back and forth between the
physical model, a wind tunnel model of lower Manhattan, and that
computational model that I described. And this is a scene of gases,
simulated gases being released at the World Trade Center site.

The result of moving back and forth between this kind of phys-
ical model and computational model is that we can begin to recre-
ate exposures at the time of the collapse and in the few days fol-
lowing that we cannot do from actual measurements. So what you
see here is a recreation of concentrations of no particular pollutant.
We have yet to go back and plug in to these models actual omis-
sions data. But what this represents is, and let me explain the dif-
ferent so called ‘‘isolines,’’ lines of common concentration.

The yellow circle in and around the World Trade Center site rep-
resents the highest concentration. The green line with the No. 10
on it would represent a 10-fold reduction in the concentration of a
contaminate. And the blue line, a 100-fold in the contaminate. Also
marked on this map is the area that represented the exclusion zone
in the initial phases of the disaster. We have also done this now
for one other wind direction, and we are continuing to expand that.

Our hope is using a model like that and also, again, a computa-
tional approach to understanding what happened immediately as
the World Trade Center collapsed, we will be able to recreate the
exposure levels that people were exposed to.

What I have here is a computer generated model. This is not an
animation. This is actually a calculation done of the collapse of one
of the buildings at the World Trade Center. And it is through this
type of modeling that we hope to be able to combine the physical
model that I showed you, the numerical model and begin to better
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estimate the exposures that people present at the time of the col-
lapse and first responders were subjected to.

Let me now summarize for you some of the things that the EPA
has done since the World Trade Center in an effort to improve our
response capability. We have updated and revised our national ap-
proach to response. We have expanded our training and incident
response. We have built a more sophisticated and larger emergency
operation center. We have established both at headquarters and in
the regions a support corps. Actually back up folks for our trained
professional in emergency response.

We have also purchased special communications and monitoring
equipment that would overcome some of the difficulties we had in
establishing a monitoring network in the case of the World Trade
Center. We have established another emergency response team, na-
tional emergency response team in the west. And we have created
a Homeland Security Research Center to develop the kinds of tech-
nologies and first responder computer tools that I have been trying
to show you here today.

Those rapid risk assessment tools, we believe, can help with
preplanning for first responders.

We have also developed a scientific response team that will be
available to both first responders and EPA decisionmakers for fu-
ture events.

We have also been trying to improve those models, as I showed
you, on air transport.

And also, we have upgraded our laboratory capacity to serve as
a backup to the Department of Defense when it comes to biologicals
and other agents.

And I will stop there, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Dr. Gilman follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Well, Dr. Gilman, you have given us a lot to think
about and you will generate a number of questions by your presen-
tation. Thank you.

Ms. Clark.
Ms. CLARK. Mr. Chairman, members of the panel. Thank you for

this opportunity to discuss OSHA’s role in protecting workers after
the tragic events of the World Trade Center on September 11th.

I am the Regional Administrator for Region 2, OSHA, which cov-
ers New York, New Jersey, Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands.

OSHA’s mission is to ensure safe and healthful working condi-
tions for employees in this Nation. Within hours of the attack,
OSHA joined with other Federal, State and local agencies, as well
as safety and health professionals from contractors and trade
unions onsite, to help protect workers involved in recovery, demoli-
tion and clean up operations. Working under perilous conditions,
OSHA began coordinated efforts to protect the health and safety of
workers.

In line with the Federal Response and National Contingency
Plans, OSHA determined it could be most effective by providing as-
sistance and consultation. It was apparent the site was not a typi-
cal construction or demolition project. Workers needed immediate
protection from hazards, the scope and severity of which were un-
predictable.

OSHA’s primary responsibilities were to conduct personal air
monitoring to characterize exposure, distribute and fit respirators
along with other personal protective equipment, and conduct safety
monitoring. OSHA committed nearly 1100 staff, sometimes as
many as 75 a day. Our employees remained on the site for 10
months providing a 24-hour presence, 7 days a week. Our staff
spent more than 120,000 hours onsite. We conducted over 24,000
analyses of individual samples to quantify worker exposure. We
collected more than 6,500 air and bulk samples for asbestos, lead,
other heavy metals, silica, other inorganic and organic compounds
totaling 81 different analytes.

Personal sampling was conducted around the clock each day and
coordinated with safety and health professionals onsite. OSHA’s
sampling efforts included breathing zone samples of workers on
and near the pile. The tasks included search and recovery, heavy
equipment operation, steel cutting and burning, manual debris re-
moval and concrete drilling and cutting.

OSHA’s breathing zone samples showed exposures that were well
below the agency’s permissible exposure levels for the majority of
chemicals and substances analyzed.

To ensure that workers were fully informed about the potential
risks, we employed several means to disseminate the information.
We distributed sampling summaries to trade unions, site contrac-
tors and agencies during daily safety and health meetings. Per-
sonal sampling results, including an OSHA contact number were
mailed directly to worker. Those whose sample results exceeded the
PEL were encouraged to seek medical consultation. We also posted
these results on our Web site within 8 hours.

OSHA consistently recommended workers on the site wear ap-
propriate respirators. The respirators were selected jointly with all
the site safety and health professionals. We agreed on a high level
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of protection. A half mask, negative pressure respirator with high
efficiency particulate/organic/vapor/and acid gas cartridges. This
was communicated through orders and notices posted throughout
the sites. And you will see a number of exhibits labeled No. 1
through No. 8, as well as the poster in the front showing this.

OSHA continued to conduct extensive risk assessment to verify
the selected respirators remained appropriate. When sample re-
sults for jack hammering and concrete drilling operations indicated
a higher level of protection was needed, a full face piece respirator
was required for those operations.

Shortly after the attack, OSHA became the lead agency for res-
pirator distribution, fitting and training. At the peel of the oper-
ation, basically the first 3 weeks, we gave out 4,000 respirators a
day. We distributed more than 131,000 during the 10 month recov-
ery period.

Mr. SHAYS. Could you repeat that number again? How many?
Ms. CLARK. 131,000 in the 10 months.
Distribution to workers did pose challenges. OSHA initially de-

ployed staff by foot with bags of respirators. We followed this up
by mobile teams on all terrain vehicles, as you will see in exhibit
9.

We also established a distribution point at the Queens Marina,
which was the fire department of New York’s staging point. We
opened multiple equipment distribution locations throughout the
16 acres site. You will see two of those in exhibits 10 and 11.

OSHA conducted over 7,500 quantitative fit-tests for negative
pressure respirators, including nearly 3,000 for FDNY personnel
specifically. You can refer to exhibit 12 for that. Fit-testing in-
cluded instruction on storage, maintenance, the proper use and the
limitations of respirators. 45,000 pieces of other protective equip-
ment were given out as well, such as hard hats, glasses and gloves.

We are also proud that despite this highly dangerous rescue and
recovery mission there was not one fatality. More than 3.7 million
work hours were expended during the clean up operations with
only 57 non-life threatening injuries. This is really remarkable
given the nature and the complexity of the site.

The key to success was working in partnership. A joint labor
management safety and health committee was established to iden-
tify hazards and recommend corrective actions. And unusually high
level of safety and health oversight, training and direct involve-
ment of workers resulted.

Union stewards met weekly with us and with the other agencies
and their employees. They distributed safety bulletins directly to
their workers and they held tool box talks. OSHA and the Center
to Protect Workers Rights of the AFL–CIO collaborated to provide
mandatory safety and health training for all the workers on the
project.

We learned a great deal at the WTC site, lessons that can help
the agency and the Nation improve emergency preparedness. Em-
ployers must regularly review and practice evaluations. Also essen-
tial to establish channels of communication prior to an emergency.

Nationwide, OSHA’s reaching out to the entire emergency re-
sponse community and coordinating this with the Department of
Homeland Security. One of the goals in this is to ensure that first
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responders wear properly fitted and maintained respirators at work
sites that may have toxic releases.

The agency is also working in partnership with the CPWR to
provide skilled support personnel with the training to ensure that
America has a work force that is prepared to safely respond to na-
tional emergencies.

Mr. Chairman, in addition to my concern for workers at the WTC
site, I have personal interest in the short and long term effects of
exposures because my staff and I spent so much time there, 10
months. Our Manhattan area office was destroyed when the North
Tower of the WTC collapsed on our building. During evaluation our
employees were exposed to all of the same potential contaminates
in the atmosphere as others who were in lower Manhattan that
day. I can say with confidence and pride that OSHA’s staff did ev-
erything humanly possible to protect the workers during their re-
covery efforts.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Clark follows:]
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Mr. SHAYS. Thank you.
Before recognizing Mrs. Maloney, I want to say that this has

been very important testimony, and there will be some tough ques-
tions to follow, but I wish some of this information had come out
sooner. And I will say to you, Ms. Clark, I think our previous
panel, some of the witnesses to make sure that your work of your
agency was recognized. Because you were in the thick of it.

And I am also going to say that in the first day or two we prob-
ably needed the respirators more than later. But I know the men-
tality of everyone there; they just wanted to do whatever was nec-
essary to get the job done. And I hope we do not forget what moti-
vated people in those first few days. It was not about their own
safety, it was just see if we can find anyone who is still alive. And
we know that.

And I am also going to say that we are all Americans here. We
love our country and we love the people who serve it, and we love
the people who were involved in this effort. And we are just going
to look backward and go forward.

And so, with that, I am going to first recognize Mrs. Maloney. I
am going to then go to Mr. Turner, then to Mr. Owens and then
to Mr. Nadler. We might have a second round if it is deemed nec-
essary or partly that.

And so, Mrs. Maloney, you have the floor for 10 minutes. I am
not going to let you ask a question and in the 10th minute that
takes them 5 minutes to then respond to. I am going to keep you
to the 10.

Mrs. MALONEY. OK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I thank all
of the panelists for your testimony and your hard work.

If you were here earlier, I asked a question of the first panel. I
asked them if they thought the Federal Government was doing all
that they should or could do to respond to September 11. And ev-
eryone raised their hand saying that they did not believe that
enough had been done, and then they said what they thought
should be done.

I would like to ask you the same question and to respond with
what you think Congress should be doing or the Government
should be doing to respond to the disaster of September 11. And
be very short and go right down the line, starting with Ms. Porter
and going straight down, or Dr. Williamson.

Ms. PORTER. I think related to the health issues of workers that
it is critically important that the screening program, which is un-
derway, be continued and be funded for the long term.

I think that in addition funds for treatment would be appro-
priate, as would funds for research studies that could be done.

Last, I think that having listened to the first panel, it is really
important that we sort out the workers compensation issue.

Mrs. MALONEY. Yes.
Dr. Wagner.
Dr. WAGNER. In our particular arena, I think the efforts at get-

ting our emergency response teams prepositioned, trained and
properly equipped are underway. We need to complete that.

We continue to support research both in the short run for better
understanding of what took place in terms of human health at the
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World Trade Center, and more broadly for other potential terrorist
attacks for the future.

Mrs. MALONEY. OK. Ms. Clark.
Ms. CLARK. I think it’s essential that we not lose focus about

what happened here and that we not forget and do not plan. Plan-
ning is absolutely essential. Emergency preparedness is all about
using the things that we learned here; what went right, what went
wrong and try to work on these.

I think working with the respirator community on having res-
pirators that are more likely going to be worn by workers is very
important.

Working with the responders to make sure that they are com-
fortable with respiratory protection. Prior to September 11 they
really were only accustomed to the self-contained breathing appa-
ratus, the scuba-like tanks. They did not know what negative pres-
sure respirators were, and that was a problem.

And we are working very hard with those groups.
Coordination, collaboration and let us not forget that we have to

keep working on this issue. I think that is absolutely essential. We
can all do more in that regard.

Mrs. MALONEY. Ms. Porter, if you heard the first panel, I would
like to place into the record a series of questions really on the fund-
ing. The funding for the monitoring was a bipartisan effort, along
with Senator Clinton and Senator Schumer and others. And Mr.
Shays and Mr. Turner all supported it. Yet what we heard from the
first panel is they are not getting the money. The fire department
says they’re not getting the $25 million to continue their monitor-
ing and treatment, and Mount Sinai does not know if there will be
a disruption in their screening program. They have people on the
waiting list trying to get in to be screened.

And I am sure you heard the comments that they felt the central
registry, both in Mount Sinai and the city, was more effective in
compiling the data for future research. I understand you have
plans to market it out to different areas around the city, or what-
ever. And this might be problematic.

And my overall question is why can’t they get the funding? We
voted on this months ago. This was a bipartisan effort. It was
signed into law. And they are still telling us they do not have the
money.

Ms. PORTER. Right. The funds were transferred to us from FEMA
on June 17th. And 6 days subsequent to that, we provided funding
to the Mount Sinai Clinic to extend the baseline screening work,
which was what was deemed appropriate after the May 2nd meet-
ing that we had, which we had, by the way——

Mrs. MALONEY. But the continued funding, the $25 million and
the continued $90 million.

Ms. PORTER. Right. And then on 10 days, subsequent to receiving
the funds, we provided—we signed a contract with the New York
City Fire Department. And, unfortunately, we have in working to-
gether with the fire department, learned that we want to encour-
age firefighters to participate in the program, ensure the quality of
the data as well as the consistency of the data with the other
screening programs so that it’s utility over time is there. And, un-
fortunately, we determined that the contract mechanism was not
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the appropriate mechanism to use, even though it got the money
out there quickly, it meant that the Government had to have the
data. In other words, the data was transferred to us. The fire de-
partment was concerned about that issue related to confidentiality.

Mrs. MALONEY. Well, I would like to work with you in a future
meeting on how we can get these funds released and out of Wash-
ington.

Ms. PORTER. Right. Right.
Mrs. MALONEY. And into where they were designated.
Dr. Gilman, as I mentioned, that there was an article today in

the Daily News where they talk about a memo that came out di-
rectly after September 11 saying that it was a health crises, it was
detrimental to the health of people, that they should not return to
the area, should not be in the area. And I do not know if you have
read the article, but it is a scientific——

Dr. GILMAN. Juan Gonzalez’ column.
Mrs. MALONEY. Juan Gonzalez’ column, but a scientific expose,

basically saying that there was not a response.
Just in walking outside for a moment, several people came up to

me, including one reporter, who said they were at Ground Zero.
The catastrophe happened on Tuesday, but it was not until Satur-
day before any monitoring notice was put up saying that the air
could be problematic. That there was no monitoring notices put up
until Saturday.

You said in your testimony that you responded immediately, yet
they are telling me nothing was put out publicly to them until Sat-
urday. And according to Juan Gonzalez’ article, the scientific analy-
sis that was done was not responded to.

Because he is going to cut me off I know, I just want to say that
at this map that you showed of the plume going out and where it
was the most problematic, I quite frankly was surprised to see that
the area that we the most infected really was in Brooklyn in the
plume that went out from the study.

So I would like to know if you have any data, Ms. Porter or oth-
ers, on the emergency rooms that responded on September 11, par-
ticularly from Brooklyn hospitals after September 11? According to
that plume, there should have been more medical problems in
Brooklyn, and I have been told through hearsay from medical doc-
tors that there were huge increases in admission for adult asthma
and general respiratory problems after September 11. In Brooklyn,
as much as 23 percent. I do not know if there is any historical data
on that. But if you could get back in writing to me on it, if we do
not have the time.

But, Dr. Gilman, what they are telling me out there including re-
porters, they are saying I was down at Ground Zero. There was
nothing put up telling us that there was a health problem from
EPA until Saturday, clearly many days after the disaster?

Dr. GILMAN. Well, let me start by saying your interpretation of
the graphics is incorrect. The first two photos appended to the tes-
timony actually show the greatest concentration in the immediate
vicinity of the World Trade Center, not Brooklyn in fact.

Mrs. MALONEY. But this one, the impact after days. Is that not
Brooklyn. This graph, this plume study.

Dr. GILMAN. The plume study, yes.
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Mrs. MALONEY. That is Brooklyn.
Dr. GILMAN. And that is not the dust plume, but that would be

the plume from fires and the different concentrations are color
coded there with the greatest concentration being in close in the
red area. And there is no question that in the first hours and prob-
ably all the way through to the second day, there were debris from
the World Trade Center found in Brooklyn, as the representative
from the New York Department of Health was saying. The question
was where were the concentrations the greatest, where was the
greatest concern for exposures to people.

As far as information available to the folks at Ground Zero, the
EPA and other Federal agencies were getting together within 24
hours of the event and trying to sort out——

Mrs. MALONEY. But they are saying no notices were put up. We
have an example of a notice here for safety.

Dr. GILMAN. Well, I do know——
Mrs. MALONEY. But nothing was put from EPA saying that this

is a dangerous zone, watch out for your health. That there was no
air monitoring reports to the public until Saturday. That is what
they are telling me.

Dr. GILMAN. Well, two different things.
Mrs. MALONEY. OK.
Dr. GILMAN. The public at large and the people located at

Ground Zero and at the site of the collapse, the World Trade Cen-
ter, EPA professionals as well as other agencies were telling people
at the site that it was a dangerous place in terms of what was
being breathed. And so the advice throughout was, as offered by
OSHA and others, was to use respirators.

The question of what was being said to the public, you know, I
cannot speak to the availability of flyers or not. But I can speak
to the fact that there were oral communications with the city, with
the workers on the part of, I think, all of our agencies about the
danger at Ground Zero.

Mrs. MALONEY. My time is up. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. And we will be able to ask a few more questions here,

so it is not your last chance here.
We are going to go to Mr. Turner.
Mr. TURNER. As the Nation watched the tragedy of the World

Trade Center collapsing, I do not think that there is an individual
who witnessed that, either on television or here in this community,
who did not intuitively understand that there were health impacts
and that there were health concerns as a result of those towers col-
lapsing. It does not take an EPA report or an OSHA report for all
of us around the country immediately to have understood the
health struggles of those who were both responding and who were
fleeing the tragedy. We saw them all on television, we read them
in our newspapers. And scientific analysis was not really needed
for us to initially understand that the people who were responding
were doing so as true heros and in peril of their own safety.

Dr. Gilman, I have some questions concerning the EPA’s jurisdic-
tion. There have been some questions concerning the EPA’s actions
during this time period. And I am assuming that there is a re-
gional air pollution control agency in this area other than just the
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Federal EPA or other air control agencies or monitoring agencies
present in the New York area, are there not?

Dr. GILMAN. The way the Clean Air Act is it really is a partner-
ship.

Mr. SHAYS. I am going to ask you use one mic and we will just
have one mic directly in front of you.

Dr. GILMAN. It really is a partnership under the Clean Air Act
with State government and the Federal Government. And so, for
example, some of the monitors I mentioned that were used that
were already in place for purposes of the Clean Air Act are ones
that are not operated by the Federal Government.

Mr. TURNER. So this information was readily available to the
State agencies and perhaps even the local agencies, not just merely
handled or controlled under EPA?

Dr. GILMAN. Yes. And we did create a Web site quickly. It was
actually up and functioning by about, I believe it was September
26th to provide general access to the public for the information as
well.

Mr. TURNER. In your testimony and the slides you gave us, you
mentioned the nationwide air monitors that were already were in
place that were staked, that you were coordinating with the EPA.
Then you go on to say that the EPA established 20 World Trade
Center air sampling stations. Now, I am assuming that information
was not solely in the control of the EPA when these stations would
report. Who else would have had the information that was coming
from these stations?

Dr. GILMAN. Well, there was a task force put together of State,
city and Federal agencies that were all trying to share that infor-
mation. A data base was created. I do not know the exact date at
which it was up and running for sharing among the different agen-
cies. But, as I say, the publicly available site was up by September
26th. Maybe Kat Callahan of Region 2’s office can——

Mr. TURNER. My basic point, though, in asking about who had
access to this information is that there has been some perception
that somehow the EPA or others might have controlled the spin of
the dissemination of this information. And it is my belief that this
information would have been much more widely available to State,
local agencies so that it would not have been able to be controlled
by the EPA or others in its dissemination or spin, if you will.

Dr. GILMAN. Why do we not have Kathy Callahan, who was in
charge of this effort for our Region 2 office——

Mr. SHAYS. You got your own mic.
Mr. TURNER. And I hope my time will be extended while we do

all this.
Mr. SHAYS. No, we do not need mics. We are all set. Everybody

has a mic. I am losing control.
I would like you to tell me your name, your title and then answer

the question.
Ms. CALLAHAN. I am Kathleen Callahan. I am from EPA’s Region

2 office. And I am the Assistant Administrator for Response and
Recovery in New York City operations.

Mr. TURNER. Yes.
Ms. CALLAHAN.
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And to answer the question of who had access to what informa-
tion. On September 12th we established, and it began the after-
noon of the 11th, but we began our first of many, many conference
calls with agency representatives from the Federal Government,
from State government, from city government. Initially, actually,
from the private sector as well because they were taking samples.
And we exchanged sample results among that group and consulted
on what to do next and what the implications of those samples
were.

In addition to that, everyday the emergency operations commit-
tee that was established uptown, which had representatives from
a broad base of Federal agencies, State agencies, city agencies had
morning meetings at which, you know, data results were provided.
Evening meetings to see if there was anything new to add. And
downtown there was a daily meeting at which sample response re-
sults were provided and health and safety issues were also—every-
day.

Mr. TURNER. So the analysis of this information, the dissemina-
tion of it, the reporting of it to the community was not solely con-
trolled by one point or one agency?

Ms. CALLAHAN. Absolutely not.
Mr. TURNER. Mr. Gilman, in looking at the information that you

had—Dr. Gilman, excuse me. If you look at the information that
you have concerning EPA’s indoor air monitoring and cleaning pro-
gram, one of the misconceptions that I heard during panel one was
that the EPA had a mandated responsibility to clean up all of the
buildings and the apartments that were around the World Trade
Center. And when I read your testimony it talks about a request
that you received from New York City and your response, and a
voluntary program where you went to individuals that were in the
area and provided some services. And there may be some criticism
or question as to the effectiveness of your program. But I just want
to touch on the point of whether or not you were legally mandated
to clean up the results of the World Trade Center collapse?

Dr. GILMAN. I will defer to Kathy in a moment, but I will say
that under an emergency response and under the emergency re-
sponse plan, different responsibilities get divided up among the dif-
ferent agencies. In the case of the indoor air, the initial responsibil-
ity went to the city of New York. Subsequently, the city asked the
EPA to become more involved and ultimately to take over the test-
ing and clean up program that was begun in May 2002.

Kathy, do you want to add?
Ms. CALLAHAN. That is absolutely accurate. And I think that in

addition to that, the underpinning of our sort of statutorial author-
izations is important. The Stafford Act is what defines sort of the
agency’s funding and statutory opportunities to respond to a feder-
ally declared disaster. And so EPA was operating under the Staf-
ford Act.

In addition, EPA operates under the SuperFund law and the na-
tional contingency plan regulations that support that law in sup-
porting its role within the Federal Response Plan and in support
of the Stafford Act.

Mr. TURNER. Could you expand your answer related to testing,
but specifically with the area of clean up. I mean, it is the same.
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Your testimony was that both testing and clean up concerning the
program was not something that EPA was mandated to do inter-
nally in individual dwelling spaces. Is that correct?

Ms. CALLAHAN. The National Contingency Plan and the Super-
Fund law, which is part of what we are responding under, author-
izes EPA to undertake certain actions. But there are a lot of cri-
teria that are applied in exercising the judgment so that we deter-
mine when we proceed on that authorization. And in a federally de-
clared disaster, we do that in the context of a Federal Response
Plan and the Stafford Act as well. And so it is not, per se, a direc-
tive to conduct certain activities. It is an authorization to conduct
them given the agency’s evaluation of the appropriateness in the
response.

Mr. TURNER. Ms. Porter, when you talked about the different
baseline medical screening and the data bases that were being cre-
ated, we have a split that is happening between the New York Fire
Department’s baseline screening, what Mount Sinai is doing for
those individuals who responded to the site, worked on the site but
were not necessarily members of the fire department, and then we
also have what the health department is doing with individuals
that live in the area.

What is your assessment of the coordination of those programs
and what advice might you have in that area?

Ms. PORTER. I think currently there is a steering group where,
as you heard them testify, all Mount Sinai sits on the fire depart-
ment’s steering council as does the fire department sit on Mount
Sinai’s group. And so there is coordination.

Could there be better coordination? Always. And I think that as
we construct the longer term program, we will actually mandate in
the announcement a steering group that will be constituted and
funded through that mechanism.

Mr. TURNER. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. I thank the gentleman.
At this time the Chair would recognize Major Owens.
Mr. OWENS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I would like to begin by getting some clarification from Mr.

Clark, since they distributed the largest number of respirators. Can
you clarify the terminology? There were some workers who said
they never had anything for the first few weeks but paper masks.
Is that a respirator, a kind of respirator? You mentioned half mask,
full mask; there are two categories. Are there other categories? Do
people mistakenly call it something else, the respirator?

Ms. CLARK. I can talk about what we provided. And we did this
under the auspices of the New York City Department of Health.

We offered that we would take over the respirator distribution
and fit checking and fit-testing eventually process for them. And
we did so. Prior to that the New York State Department of Labor,
Public Employee Safety and Health Program as early as the 12th
were involved with handing out respirators.

I mentioned that as a group all the safety and health profes-
sionals on the site got together very early on, after the first couple
of days, and determined that because the site was so unpredictable
and we were not able to determine exactly what the exposures to
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the workers might be, we would go to a high level of protection.
And that was the half faced piece negative pressure respirator with
the three types of cartridges. The high level particulate filter that
would be appropriate for things like asbestos or silica or other par-
ticulates. An organic vapor that would be for things that might be
coming out of the fires, the plumes and acid gases that also might
be in that context.

Those are the three major categories of——
Mr. OWENS. So this is one mask you are talking about with three

different internal components that can be adjusted?
Ms. CLARK. Three large—it has a very large canister. In fact, in

your exhibits, and I think it is exhibit 7 or 8, you will see two of
my compliance officers who were onsite wearing the respirator with
that cartridge on with the triple cartridges.

That is what we felt was appropriate, and we continued to do so
until we found some of the higher levels in particular operations.
And then we said not just a half faced respirator, but one that is
full faced for people who were doing jack hammering or some of the
core drilling operations you need a higher level of protection that
is afforded by that kind of respirator.

Those were the kinds of respirators that were provided us
through the city of New York. They got contributions from all over
the country, our Assistant Secretary called equipment manufactur-
ers of respirators early that first week asking for donations. Those
were all provided. The city bought a lot of respirators.

In addition, contractors and unions also brought respirators to
the site. Very early on, though, the site safety and health man-
dated, as you can see by the signs and in some of the exhibit, that
type of respiratory protection, that high level. And that is what we
were involved with using.

Mr. OWENS. Are you familiar with the mask that Members of
Congress have been given. All our offices have a certain supply of
masks. I think they are called gas masks. Maybe that is a popular
term. Are they same as respirators? Are you familiar with the
model that are distributed to Members of Congress.

Ms. CLARK. A mask, some people do use the term gas mask to
refer to a type of respirator. I am not familiar specifically with the
ones that you may have in your offices. No, I am not. I am happy
to work with you if you would like to have a separate consultation
on that.

Mr. OWENS. Before I go any further, I just want to congratulate
OSHA for the magnificent job they did. You were as much a victim
in many cases. Your whole agency wiped out, as other people were.
Your heroism is to be—certainly you are to be congratulated for
that. But I hope your experience can be used for the future.

And one of the items that you anticipated where I was going, is
there a problem with a supply of respirators in the country, manu-
facturers? Is there a problem the technology of respirators when
they are so clumsy that people do not want to wear them? They
do not feel that they can work in them and wear them. Are we on
top of a respirator crises or was there a respirator crises?

The city certainly did not have enough. You said they had to get
them from various sources. The Federal Government did not have
any, otherwise you would not have to turn to the city. I mean, you
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had no procedure for a large number of masks that you could reach
and pull into the situation right away.

Ms. CLARK. There actually was a large number, a cache of res-
piratory protection in the city itself. We did lose our own office, our
Manhattan area office. So all of our people were without. I am very
fortunate that my regional office is a mile and a half north of the
city. We did have some respirators there. We also have——

Mr. OWENS. You have respirators stored in your office?
Ms. CLARK. Yes. Yes. And we had enough for the Federal com-

munity. We also certainly consider your concern about lessons
learned issues on respirators. This is clearly one of the major
issues that has come up. And we’re working on that in a number
of ways.

Under the Department of Homeland Security we are working
with them to establish caches of equipment around the country in-
cluding respiratory and protective equipment.

Goggles, the dust on the site was also very intense. And that was
appropriate to have eye protection as well.

And so these caches will have that kind of equipment and they
will be located throughout the country.

We are also working with the equipment manufacturers, the res-
pirators especially, to determine what their turnaround time is to
put more respirators out if we need them and where can we get
them, and how can we get them to the site. If the issue is in lower
Manhattan, how can we get them there very quickly?

The National Guard and all of the other groups that were very
helpful in our supply route was very essential of that. But that is
part of our preparedness that I talked about before this. So essen-
tial.

Mr. OWENS. It is recognized that we need a system for dealing
with supplies of respirators.

Ms. CLARK. Absolutely.
Mr. OWENS. And that system is in process at this point?
Ms. CLARK. Yes.
Mr. OWENS. Being developed?
Ms. CLARK. Yes.
Mr. OWENS. One other question. At least one person mentioned,

they used the phrase ‘‘that OSHA was not in enforcement mode.’’
What is the significance of that? You have mentioned partnership
model and my committee, which is responsible for work force pro-
tection, I am constantly being assailed by the majority party about
the need for partnership models. I generally agree that it is a good
approach. But did that have anything to do with limiting the liabil-
ity of anybody in terms of the city or the State, and does that have
any impact on the callous way in which people who did get ill and
have been effected are being treated? Did that remove any obliga-
tions?

Ms. CLARK. Absolutely not. As I did try to explain before, we
were working within the guidelines of the Federal Response Plan
and the National Contingency Plan, which provide for us to do con-
sultation and assistance in some kind of catastrophic event such as
this.

We quickly determined that this was not a typical
constructionsite, it was not any kind of normal situation where en-
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forcement would work. The enforcement process is a very legal
process that can take months to years to occur. That was not what
was needed.

What was needed was to have safety and health professionals,
OSHA onsite, the eyes and on that site finding hazards, getting
them corrected immediately. That is why I had so many people
there for 24 hours a day, 7 days a week for 10 months working
with all of these other safety and health professionals.

And as someone has already mentioned, it did work. We did not
lose another life on that site during that time. And I think that cer-
tainly the issue of having people there, their presence. We had
workers tell us, ‘‘You know, these respirators are tough but when
I see one of your people, I remember to put it back on. I might take
it off to talk to someone or I might not put it on after the break,
but your guy reminded me.’’ I mean had people there telling me
that.

Mr. OWENS. Yes, it is miraculous that no lives were really lost
there. And the whole atmosphere, obviously, was conducive to get-
ting the job done with minimum risk.

Just the last question is can anybody whose brought into court
by some of the sick workers who are looking for relief use your
whole harmless approach as an argument, find that your whole
harmless approach is being used as an argument against their
being able to get compensation for their disability?

Ms. CLARK. By not using our enforcement tool, that only meant
that we did not issue citations to the contractors. Those were the
people who would have received any kind of citation. That is the
only issue. And there would have been——

Mr. OWENS. The contractor cannot say in court that you gave
them carte blanche to operate a certain way, therefore they cannot
be liable?

Ms. CLARK. No. They certainly cannot. Because under the part-
nership agreement that you mentioned earlier, we had a very
strong commitment that this type of respirator protection was part
of that partnership agreement. Every contractor on the site, the
four major contractors on the site signed it. The union signed it.
The city agencies that were directing it. The FDNY and the De-
partment of Design and Construction. We all signed that. We were
all committed to this very comprehensive safety and health pro-
gram that went far beyond what our regulations would require as
far as the respiratory protection, the safety measures, the training.
No, I think they actually were under a higher level of requirement,
actually.

Mr. OWENS. And you do not cover the Transit Authority and the
city and State?

Ms. CLARK. That is correct. We hold that the private sector and
Federal employees, we—in New York State the New York State
Department of Labor Public Safety Employee and Health Program
covers the State and municipal workers.

Mr. OWENS. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. We will be able to come back.
Mr. OWENS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am sorry I went over.
Mr. SHAYS. No, these are excellent questions. I am learning a lot

from both the questions and from, obviously, our witnesses.
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In the 9 years I have chaired this committee, the only person I
never swore in was Senator Byrd, because I chickened out. I do
want to make sure, I think Ms. Callahan, you were sworn and you
stood up behind. Yes, so we will just note for the record you are
sworn in as well. I did not want to add you to my list. You would
have been in high company there.

At this time the Chair recognizes the gentleman whose district
is, obviously, directly impacted though so many were.

Mr. NADLER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Turner asked a number of questions or made some state-

ments a few minutes ago which I think go to the heart of some of
the questions here. And he said that the EPA does not have a man-
date to clean up these buildings. Dr. Gilman, Ms. Callahan said the
same, or answered the questions to that extent. And Ms. Callahan
referred to the Stafford Act.

Now, my impression, and let me very careful on this. It is not
my impression. My knowledge. Is that under Presidential Decision
Directive No. 62 signed by President Clinton in 1998, the EPA is
mandated to clean up any building contaminated in a terrorist at-
tack. Administrator Whitman testified to this effect before the Sen-
ate in November 2001. Acting Administrator Herinko testified in a
recent deposition under oath that PDD 62 applies to the World
Trade Center case and to the clean up of building interiors. Under
President Bush’s National Strategy for Homeland Security issued
in July 2002, after the World Trade Center, admittedly, the EPA
is ‘‘responsible for decontamination of buildings and effected neigh-
borhoods’’ following a major incident.

Would you like to withdraw what you said a few minutes ago
and reconfirm it under oath?

Ms. CALLAHAN. What I said was the exercise of our authority
under the Stafford Act and under the National Contingency Plan,
and I believe it is consistent with the Presidential Decision Direc-
tives, was a decision process. And we made those decisions as to
what was appropriate and we feel we made them reasonably.

Mr. NADLER. Well, let me ask you this question then. Is it or is
it not the duty of EPA under Presidential Decision Directive 62,
and I would say also under the CIRCLA law, but more importantly
under PDD 62, to see to it perhaps by delegating to the city or to
somebody else, but making sure it gets done one way or the other,
it is your responsibility to see it that indoors as well as outdoors
is cleaned up from hazardous waste discharges as a result of a ter-
rorist attack? Yes or no?

Dr. GILMAN. Kathy is not the attorney for the agency.
Mr. NADLER. So you are the attorney?
Dr. GILMAN. And I am not an attorney, either.
Mr. NADLER. We have been pursuing this question for almost 2

years now.
Dr. GILMAN. Yes. And I am not an attorney for the agency, ei-

ther. And you may be a trained attorney. And I am happy to try
and get some response to your question. I am not qualified to an-
swer it. I am not sure that Kathy is either.

Mr. NADLER. Well, let me say, both of you sat here and said es-
sentially it was the city’s job, they did it—or they did not do it, but
it was the city’s responsibility and they asked you for help. At
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other times people from EPA have testified that the city asked you
not to help. And we have been maintaining for 2 years that it is
EPA’s responsibility to do it or to delegate it to someone, but make
sure it gets done under their supervision. And essentially you have
been saying that is not your responsibility.

We have been saying, and again Acting Administrator Herinko
testified in his deposition a few months ago that it was. The agency
should be able to say it is or it is not your responsibility.

Dr. GILMAN. But, Congressman, at the time I did say, we have
taken on that responsibility.

Mr. NADLER. No, you have not. Well, I want to know is or is it
not your responsibility to do it? And whether you have taken it or
not is a separate question. I would say you have not, and I will not
get into that now.

If you do not want to answer under oath, etc., without getting
a lawyer, fine. But I would ask that you supply an answer to that
question afterwards.

Dr. GILMAN. Sure. Be happy to.
Mr. NADLER. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. I would like to say, that these are very fair questions,

but under no circumstance do I think that our witnesses are doing
anything but just trying to provide very honest and very candid re-
sponses. But I also want to say to the gentleman that I know this
has been a gigantic and legitimate concern and answers have not
been forthcoming. And it is important those answers happen.

We did not ask the legal side of EPA to be here to even deal with
that issue, frankly.

Mr. NADLER. I raised it because Mr. Turner did.
Mr. SHAYS. Right.
Mr. NADLER. Let him supply the authority.
Mr. SHAYS. Right. And then there will be, and also I just assure

the gentleman, he will be given more time. I did interrupt.
Mr. NADLER. Thank you.
Let me also just make one comment and then go into some ques-

tions.
Mr. Turner said that, and quite logically, that it was common

sense if you smelled the thing and went there that people knew
that there was something wrong with the air. The problem is that
starting 2 days after the disaster in the person of Ms. Whitman
and others, the EPA started assuring everybody do not worry, the
air is safe to breath. There have been reasons for that those assur-
ances were done. I will not get into the IG report, but there were
a lot of assurances and at the very least mixed messages.

Now, let me ask you, Dr. Gilman, in the clean up that the EPA
began in May 2002, despite demands from my office, the workers
who were cleaning up asbestos laden material when the testing re-
vealed asbestos, did not wear any protective equipment. Why?

Dr. GILMAN. I am not personally familiar with that clean up pro-
gram.

Mr. NADLER. Ms. Callahan.
Ms. CALLAHAN. Based upon the data that was collected in the

clean up of the immediate surroundings of the World Trade Center,
OSHA provided us with a negative exposure assessment that per-
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mitted workers not to wear personal protective equipment in the
clean ups that were being conducted under——

Mr. NADLER. But you did testing. And if you had—go ahead.
Ms. CALLAHAN. Under Scope A, which was where there was very

minimal dust in the apartment.
In the Scope B clean ups that we characterized where there

might be substantial dust still there, they would indeed comply
with wearing personal protective equipment.

So we worked in conjunction with OSHA on that issue.
Mr. NADLER. Well, let me say first that Secretary Henshaw’s let-

ter says that wherever there is any dust you must wear—where
there is any asbestos you must wear protective equipment, No. 1.

No. 2, I would hope that OSHA can supply us with a copy of that
letter saying they do not have to wear protective in Scope A clean
ups. And then I would like to square it with Secretary Henshaw’s
prior letter of January 2002.

And third, it is my information from talking to dozens of people,
constituents, we never observed a worker ever wearing protective
equipment in a Scope A or a Scope B clean up. So I do not know
what evidence you can produce at this point that they did.

Also, would you define ‘‘minimal dust’’ for this purpose?
Ms. CALLAHAN. A light coating of dust, minimal dust.
Mr. NADLER. A light coating. With a 1-percent asbestos in it, per-

haps?
Ms. CALLAHAN. We did not test for asbestos content.
Mr. NADLER. So was it one——
Ms. CALLAHAN. We made an—excuse me, if I could finish, Con-

gressman, I think it is important to your point.
Mr. NADLER. OK.
Ms. CALLAHAN. We made an assumption that all the dust had

the potential for asbestos from early on. And so, you know, we felt
we were being consistent. And the negative exposure assessment
was based on the personal monitoring of workers that worked in
heavily, heavily contaminated areas. And I think that is why
OSHA felt that they could give that assurance and permit us to
proceed.

Mr. NADLER. So a light coating of dust which might have 2 or
4 or 5 percent, for all you know, asbestos in it, it is safe to have
people remove it with no asbestos, and legal for that matter, with
no protective equipment?

Ms. CLARK. Congressman, if I might join the discussion?
Mr. NADLER. Yes, please.
Mr. SHAYS. Hold it a second. These mics do not turn on until a

person starts to speak, and then they pick up.
I want no comments from the audience, please.
Ms. CLARK. As part of the EPA clean up of the residences, we

were involved in doing 156 safety and health inspections of those
clean up operations to look at what was happening with the work-
ers that were involved. Some of those involved Scope A, as I under-
stood it, no visible dust or Scope B where there was some visible
dust as well as any cleaning of the heating and air conditioning
systems.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 10:27 Apr 15, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00175 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 D:\DOCS\92728.TXT HGOVREF1 PsN: HGOVREF1



172

And as Ms. Callahan indicated, during Scope A they were not
wearing the protective equipment, the respirators, but they were
during Scope B and with the HVAC.

All of our sample results for those 156 clean ups did not show
any over exposures for asbestos.

Mr. NADLER. OK.
Ms. CLARK. In fact, as far as air, the majority of them were non-

detected.
Mr. NADLER. I have another question. And the yellow light is on.

Thank you.
I have two more questions. One should be very quick. It is Ms.

Porter. You said that we should do a lot more screening. What
about medical care for people who the screening tells us need medi-
cal care, do you think the Federal Government should get into this
in a big way on this?

Ms. PORTER. I think that as you heard, Mount Sinai testified 40
percent of the workers are uninsured that have gone through their
screening program. And in those instances there is a need for some
bridge funding to enable people——

Mr. NADLER. Bridge funding?
Ms. PORTER. Some funding to enable people——
Mr. NADLER. Some sort of funding? Thank you.
Ms. Clark, if I read your testimony, in fact your testimony was

that there was low levels of contaminates or safe levels. You read
that testimony here. ‘‘OSHA’s breathing zone examples of exposure
is well below the agency’s permissible exposure levels for the ma-
jority of chemicals and substances analyzed.’’ By the way, that is
interesting. Does that mean that there were dangerous levels of a
minority of substances tested?

Ms. CLARK. There were 3 percent of all of the samples that we
analyzed for all of those substances that I mentioned were found
to be at or above the permissible exposure level.

Mr. NADLER. OK. Thank you. Thank you.
Ms. CLARK. Those were, however, within the protection factor of

the respirator we recommended.
Mr. NADLER. For any substance? For any substance?
Ms. CLARK. Yes.
Mr. NADLER. OK.
Ms. CLARK. I can——
Mr. NADLER. I do not want more details now. Please. Because I

do have to finish the real point of the question.
You go on about you tested a lot of things and 95 percent were

below detection limits for asbestos, etc. And you have out all these
respirators. And you also said that the ‘‘key to success at the World
Trade Center site was working in partnership.’’

Given this, it was a success; yes, in the fact that no one was
killed. But how do you regard it as a success, and more to the
point, given all these low levels of contamination why are the ma-
jority of workers who worked at the site have lung impairments of
one sort or another at this point? Why do we have what I regard
as a catastrophe of hundreds, maybe thousands of people who
have—not just people caught in the cloud but of workers, of people
who came and worked on the pile, the majority of workers tested
I’ve seen estimates of some departments up to 78 percent have long
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lasting lung incapacity problems of one or sort of other? And we
have no idea, obviously, yet how many are going to come down with
cancer 20 years from now.

Given the fact that there were these low levels of contaminates
and a wonderful job was done giving out respirators, why do the
majority of workers have very severe health problems at this point?

Ms. CLARK. Mr. Nadler, I am a physician so I cannot speak to
the health outcomes. I can tell you what we did, what we found.
I can talk about the fact that I had people there everyday looking
for safety and health issues. I had people there around the clock
asking employees, begging them, sometimes almost coming to
blows with them to wear respiratory protection. We did hear from
the employees that they were uncomfortable, that they sometimes
interfered with communication. Clearly, they did not wear them all
the time. And that’s very unfortunate, and I regret that very much.

I really feel, though, that on our part we and the other safety
health professionals did everything we could to get the proper res-
piratory protection on the site and to have it available in such a
way that the employees understood why they should wear it. We
provided the risk communication. Unfortunately, the risk commu-
nication sometimes suggested to some of them that because we
weren’t finding high levels in certain areas, that perhaps they did
not wear it. I think that if you look at, however, certain groups.
The ones that were doing more of the drilling operations, the ones
that were doing the welding and cutting where we did have some
higher levels, up to 5 percent of the samples sometimes over the
permissible exposure levels, you did find better compliance.

You also found better compliance from the trained construction
workers who were more accustomed to wearing respiratory protec-
tion.

It was a very, very horrendous situation. Working 12 hours a
day, fires. It was not a situation where it was very easy.

Mr. NADLER. Let me just—let me——
Ms. CLARK. I cannot answer, though, why the health problems.
Mr. NADLER. Of course not.
Let me make a comment, if I may, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. Yes.
Mr. NADLER. I have looked at this for 2 years now. We have been

doing a lot of work with a lot of people. It is clear to me that I fault
nobody for lack of wearing respirators or getting the respirators,
etc., for the first few days, maybe a week. Because you had to get
in. There might be people alive. You got to get in, you do the job
and, you know, maybe precautions take second place. But after the
few days, or the week or the first 2 weeks there were people work-
ing on that pile for months and you have heard in our previous
panel, whole departments apparently—and it may not be your de-
partment’s, maybe some other departments or the city of New
York, or somebody—were not getting the proper protection.

And the second thing I want to say, and I am not going to go
into detail now. This has been at other hearings. But these statis-
tics on this testing of pollutants, they do not jive with a lot of the
other testing.

For example, the testing that the University of California, Davis
under contract with, I think, it was Department of Energy when
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they put the instruments on the roof of 201 Varick Street where
my office happens to be located, Federal office building, a mile
north of Ground Zero. They were placed there on October 2nd and
they stayed, I think, until mid-January. They found levels of vola-
tile organic compounds, dioxins, mercury; everything known to
man. They said the worst chemical factory they had ever seen,
worse than the Kuwaiti oil fires for several months afterward. So
this was a very, very bad pollution. It should not be minimized.
And the people who were there were subjected to very bad condi-
tions and we’re seeing the results now from the first panel. And,
unfortunately, I don’t want to characterize a particular department
because I do not know, but the efforts that were made obviously
were not satisfactory. And I say that now not because I want to
condemn anybody, but we have to learn for, God forbid, the next
time.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. SHAYS. I thank the gentleman.
And let me just say, I thank the questions from all our panelist.

I know how heartfelt this is, and I know how important this.
And I also want to say to our three primary witnesses and also

to Ms. Callahan who also responded, that I have been very im-
pressed with your testimony. I have been very impressed with your
sincerity.

And I said to both my colleagues on both sides, Ms. Clark, you
did a terrific job. You did. And you were under lots of pressure, you
have been, but you have done a terrific job.

We do know that we have our challenges. I am concerned that
the administration seems so reluctant to release some data from
EPA and to answer questions, which it makes me feel that they
have a story that they do not want to tell. And yet when I hear
the story, I think it is a fairly good story, if not a great story.

I thought, Dr. Gilman, your presentation was very helpful. I
would have liked to have seen it sooner, and I know it is a work
in process.

I totally agree with Mr. Turner. There is not a person who did
not know that whoever went to Ground Zero was dealing with a
building in absolute flames, with gases, with every conceivable
thing burning; plastics, to asbestos to whatever. I even know that
there was talk about whether people should go down, like Members
of Congress, to visit. But, you know, we wanted to at least thank
people for what they were doing.

And it is probably likely the first week was the most horrific and
everything else went down in terms of its ultimate impact. It is
surprising to me there were so many respirators. Not surprising to
me that people did not use them. Having built part of my own
home and knowing I should use and knowing I did not want to,
and forcing myself to. And they are not easy to work with, espe-
cially when you want to get a lot accomplished.

But we need questions answered. And I think, Dr. Gilman, you
know that.

Ms. Porter, I have a particular concern with how money has been
allocated. I mean, the first panel described one or two instances
where they are not feeling they are getting the money in due time.
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And if anything could happen from this hearing, I would like to
think that we could see some quicker response there.

I would like Mrs. Maloney just outline some issues, and maybe
you could respond to them.

Mrs. MALONEY. In December 2001, $12 million was released for
the monitoring and FEMA released another $20 million for the reg-
istry. And $4 million out of the $90 that we appropriate quite a
while ago, practically a year ago, was released for emergency con-
tinuation. But my question, as we heard from the fire department
earlier and as we heard from Mount Sinai, the $25 million that the
fire department was allocated and earmarked for them has not
been released. And the $65 million for the monitoring has not been
released.

Now we are told that you are reviewing how you are going to re-
lease the money. But it seems like we have a system in place that
seems to be working and it seems that we should make sure that
it continues. We have people on waiting lists trying to get in for
monitoring. And there is some concern that there will be a gap in
the services. And basically since the money has been sitting there
for well over 6 months, why has it not gotten out of Washington
and into the hands of the people that are providing the services for
the sick first responders?

Ms. PORTER. We have been working very aggressively with
Mount Sinai and the other clinics in New York that are providing
services to these workers as well as with the fire department. And
as you’ve all mentioned, this is a new and unique experience that
we are going through. There has not been a long term medical
monitoring program set up like this in the country ever before. And
we are wanting to ensure that it is as comprehensive, that it
reaches as many workers as possible, and with our partners have
been working aggressively to put it forward.

I can guarantee you that there will be no lapse in funding be-
tween the baseline screening and the long term medical monitor-
ing. The funding will be out no later than March 2004.

Mrs. MALONEY. Well, that is good.
Ms. PORTER. And the solicitation for that funding will come out

on November 10th giving people enough time to write their applica-
tion and put forward their proposal.

Mrs. MALONEY. Also, they testified on the first panel that the
money is not there for long term screening. They testified that
medical experts are saying that this should be tracked at a mini-
mum for 20 years.

Ms. PORTER. Right.
Mrs. MALONEY. Because many of the health problems may not

emerge. We are hearing they are merging a year after, 2 years
after, 5 years. One doctor testified he anticipated cancer 15 years
out.

And I am told from the first panel that the funding that is in
place is not enough for the 20 year monitoring. And have you
looked at how much it will cost for the 20 year monitoring? How
far does the $90 million go?

Also, it seems that you want to branch it out to other places,
which seems to counteract the whole idea of coordination and hav-
ing it one place.
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Ms. PORTER. Right. What we want to do is through this commit-
tee that we will establish is to have clinics working from the same
protocol, working together so that the data is comparable. But we
want to make sure that workers have access and that workers have
choice as to where they want their medical care—excuse me. Medi-
cal screening program delivered.

So, that is why we are——
Mrs. MALONEY. But have you done any studies as to how far the

funding will go for the—for the expected 20 year review period?
Ms. PORTER. Yes, ma’am. We believe that in fact the money that

has been appropriated this far will serve us for the next 5 to 6
years. And beyond that we will be working in concert with our
partners to define what needs are subsequent to that.

We agree that the 20 year followup program is what is necessary.
Mrs. MALONEY. Get back to us with how much more you think

is needed.
Ms. PORTER. Right.
Mrs. MALONEY. Also, you testified that there were environmental

health studies being done. And what are these projects that were
listed in your testimony and what are the status of them. And, as
I said, some of the victims are saying they were treated in Brook-
lyn. That the plume effected health in Brooklyn. That the number
of people that went to the hospitals were up as much as 23 percent.
Have you done any studies on what happened in the intake in
other hospitals as a reaction to September 11?

Ms. PORTER. Yes. There have been some studies that have been
funded with the NIH, and we will be happy to provide you the data
on when those studies are expected to be completed and the results
of them.

Mrs. MALONEY. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. Ms. Porter, I am going to suggest that maybe we

could get the Members here to meet with you and to just go over
some of those dollars. Just so we are clear about that as well.

Ms. PORTER. Great.
Mr. SHAYS. I think Major Owens had a few more questions, and

then we are going to kind of close this panel up in a second.
Mr. OWENS. Just one or two questions related to the workers who

were involved in the clean up of the apartment houses and the of-
fices adjacent to the World Trade Center.

You said you made 156 inspections, did I hear correctly, of those
particular sites?

Ms. CLARK. That was the clean up that EPA did of the residen-
tial facilities in lower Manhattan from May on.

We also conducted evaluations of prior. And these were enforce-
ment inspections. For areas outside of the 16 acre project. That was
during the time from, basically October on. We started an empha-
sis program, especially to look at the buildings that were most
heavily effected around the site where there was the greatest level
of clean up. So we did——

Mr. OWENS. It was documented that contractors had brought in
a large number of immigrant workers, undocumented workers.
There was even a mobile unit set up to encourage those workers
to be tested. Are you familiar with that? And what was OSHA’s
role in protecting those workers?
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Ms. CLARK. I am familiar with the mobile testing van. And, actu-
ally, we provided some information. At the van we took over our
poster in both English and Spanish, realizing that there were some
immigrant, possibly non-English speaking people coming through
there. And we also provided the sampling result summaries that I
had talked about that we provided to workers onsite. We also pro-
vided those to that mobile van as well.

And we were, again as I indicated, doing inspections outside of
the project. It took us a little while to come back, because as I indi-
cated, we lost our whole office and we were having so many in-
volved at the site. But we did start—we resumed enforcement in-
spections overall.

Mr. OWENS. Do you know who those contractors were? You have
listings of them?

Ms. CLARK. We never received any—do you mean the ones that
we inspected? Yes.

Mr. OWENS. The ones who were employing the immigrant work-
ers?

Ms. CLARK. I do not have any specific names. None were ever
provided to us in that regard, no.

Mr. SHAYS. Is there a way we could find out these names, and
so on? How would we track that down?

Ms. CLARK. I suppose we could ask the group that had the mo-
bile van if they had any names of contractors. We did not receive
any complaints out of our posting of our information there. And we
did attempt to try to determine if we could get any referrals for in-
spections. But we did not receive any. But we could certainly ask
that of the individuals who ran that van.

Mr. SHAYS. Just to continue. We are interrupting you. If the gen-
tleman would yield, Mrs. Maloney has some point.

Mrs. MALONEY. We know that there were five general contractors
who were assigned to the site, so we could merely ask those con-
tractors whether or not they were involved in this.

Ms. CLARK. Those five contractors, I am quite familiar with.
They were the partners in the project.

Mrs. MALONEY. Yes.
Ms. CLARK. I think what Congressman Owens was talking about

would have been actually was occurring outside of the project.
Mrs. MALONEY. Outside of the project?
Ms. CLARK. That were not contractors working for those general

contractors.
Mrs. MALONEY. Then the city of New York would have a listing

of the organization that oversaw that.
Mr. SHAYS. But we’ll track it down, though. It needs to be

tracked down. I think that is a good point.
Mr. OWENS. I can assume that there were no—OSHA did not go

into a nonenforcement mode for those mode and agree that there
was no enforcement?

Ms. CLARK. That is correct. The only area that was a consultative
mode was within the 16 acre World Trade Center site itself. The
recovery project specifically. And it was only because that site was
still controlled by the FDNY as the site commander and eventually
the city Department of Design and Construction. They were the in-
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cident commanders. And so within that area we did consultation.
Outside we resumed enforcement.

Mr. OWENS. Thank you.
Mr. SHAYS. Thank the gentleman.
Is there anything that any of our witnesses and Dr. Wagner and

Dr. Williamson. Sometimes I notice that people who say nothing ul-
timately in the end have the most important things to say. Not to
put pressure on you. But if any of you would like to say anything,
please feel free.

So, is there any comment that you would like to make?
Dr. GILMAN. Yes, if I may.
Mr. SHAYS. Yes, Dr. Gilman.
Dr. GILMAN. During your remarks you suggested that there was

data available or data that EPA had that they had not made avail-
able. I am not aware of anybody asserting that we withheld data
associated with these monitoring activities.

Mr. SHAYS. Yes. I would not want the data, but information
about specifics. There are questions asked and there do not seem
to be some answers to them. And we would love those answers.

Dr. GILMAN. OK. And I know we are processing some information
requests for the Congressmen. And I know they are working on
that right now.

Mr. SHAYS. Yes, sir.
And let me just say, Members of Congress feel very protective of

a Member who, in his own district or her district, needs informa-
tion. So you would find both Republicans and Democrats alike
wanting Mr. Nadler to get this information and it is information,
obviously, that we are all interested in.

I guess my only point was the more I hear the story, the more
I feel that it is a story that has some answers to. I am struck also
by the fact that data was available to a lot of different agencies and
no government agency said to another do not share this informa-
tion.

I do know this, though. I do know the administration shortly
after September 11th in general about a lot of things was trying
to calm people down. And I got in a little bit of a dispute with some
of them about how I thought they were understating the risk of
terrorism, overstating the safety of flying airplanes and so on, you
know, to try to calm people down.

I think you tell the American people the truth, whatever it is,
and they then want you to do the right thing, whatever that may
be. And so your point is well taken about the data.

Dr. Wagner, did you want to say anything?
Dr. WAGNER. Well, only I think a number of the questions that

were unanswerable today point out the need for high quality con-
tinuous collection of the best information that we can on the ef-
fected workers and others as well as the importance of the continu-
ing analysis and research so that we can understand the nature of
the health effects, the best treatments and the ways to minimize
the adverse outcomes.

Mr. SHAYS. Ms. Porter is nodding her head, so you spoke for her
in that instance.

Dr. Williamson, any comment?
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Dr. WILLIAMSON. Yes. I would like to thank you, Congressman
Shays, for acknowledging the importance of the registry. I would
also like to reenforce the fact that we do think that this is a unique
opportunity for folks to participate in a data base that will allow
us to track and determine what the health impacts have been of
the World Trade Center, both long and short term.

I would also like to respond to one question about the lessons
learned. And one of the things that I would like to reenforce is, ob-
viously, the collaborations are critical. But I think another thing
that we are doing at CDC and ATSDR is putting together a mecha-
nism which will help us, God forbid, we are ever in a situation as
we have been in September to have a rapid response registry so
that with perhaps a quick funding mechanism, along with a rapid
response registry we can gather some of the important scientific
data that Dr. Wagner mentioned and yet at the same time get it
out in a timely fashion so that the funding and the infrastructure
is there.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. Let me thank, obviously, my colleagues
for their participation in this hearing. And I want to also thank
both panel one and panel two. You have been an excellent panel.

I want to thank our audience for its cooperation.
And also to say that it is clear to me that there is more to the

story that we have to deal with, more issues. It is clear that there
are residents in the area who have concerns. There are workers in
the area who have concerns, that these concerns need to be ad-
dressed.

We have learned a lot of lessons on September 11th. We know
we have a lot more lessons to learn.

I want to also thank the staff of Mount Sinai Medical Center for
the use of this facility and all their help preparing for the hearing.

I want to thank Congresswoman Maloney and her staff. They
have been terrific.

I would also like to thank David Rapallo of the minority staff for
the full committee. And Larry Halloran, my chief of staff for my
subcommittee. And let me also recognize the work of Kristine
McElroy and Bob Briggs of the subcommittee staff. Kristine did a
tremendous job preparing us for this hearing.

And finally, thanks to the official reporter, Jennifer Rosario.
Thank you very much.

And to all that made this a very important hearing. Thank you.
With that, this hearing is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 2:29 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
[Additional information submitted for the hearing record follows:]
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